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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

SYLVIA HILL et al.
Plaintiff s,
Case No. 14:v-1893 (GMH)

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

~ e~ e T e e — O —

Defendant.

)

MEMORANDUM OPINION

In this actionPlaintiff Sylvia Hill and her sorRlaintiff “R.H.” (together, referred to as
“Plaintiffs’), seek reversal of the administrative hearing officeegednination, issued on
August 12, 2014, denying all of their requested relief. They initiated this action beder t
Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (“IDEA”), allegingttthe District of
Columbia Public School System (“DCPS”) denied R.H. a free appropriate pdbtaten
(“FAPE”). Following the parties’ consent to the undersigned’s authority, this medter
referred to this Court for all purposeBefore theCourtarethe parties’ crossotions for
summary judgmentUpon review of the recortthe Court will grant irpart Plaintiffs’ motion

and deny DCPS’ motion.

1 The relevant docket entries for purposes of Msnorandun©Opinionare: (1)Plaintiffs Complaint(“Compl.”)
[Dkt. 1]; (2) Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment (“Pl. Mot.”) [Dkt. 12]; (3) Defendar@sssMotion for
Summary Judgmemind Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgmgbrtef. Mot.”) [Dkt. 13]; (4)
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgnaemt Reply in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Summary JudgmeiitPl. Opp.”) [Dkt. 15]; (5) Defendant’s Reply in Support@éfendant’'s Motion for Summary
Judgment (“Def. Reply”) [Dkt. 17]; (6) this Court’s March 25, 2016 RepattRecommendation (“R&R”) [Dkt.
18]; (7) Plaintiffs’ Objection to the Report and Recommendation (“Pl."dBkt. 19]; (8) Defendant’s Response to
Plaintiffs’ Objection (“Def. Resp.”) [Dkt. 20]; (&the Admninistrative Record (“AR”) [Dks. 9 & 10}, and (10) the
Hearing Transcript from July 22, 2016 (“Hrg. Tr.").
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BACKGROUND

A. Plaintiff R.H.

R.H. is a nineteegearold student witha specific learninglisability relating to academic
performance and sociaimotional functioning. AR 58.During the 2011-2012, 2012-2013,
and 2013-2014 school yeaRsH. attended Eastern Senior High School (“Eastern”), a District of
Columbia Public School. Compl. § 8. This case concerns only the 2012—2013 and 2013-2014
school years, during whidR.H. was enrolled in the ninth gradéle and his family were
homeless from 2011-2013, AR 148til theyobtained housing within Eastern’s enrollment
boundaryseeid. at 112. During the school years at is§é]. exhibited chronic absenteeism
and academic underperforman&eee.g, id. at 97 (failing Algebra | during the 2012-2013
school year becauseR[H] did not complete the final exam . . . and he had 106 absences”), 118
(failing Public Policy during the 2013-2014 school year becals¢i] only comes 1 day a
week and [the class] meets daily”). By the end of the 2013-2014 schodRyéddnad failed
the ninth grade for the third consecutive year. Compl. { 9.

B. Plaintiffs’ Due Process Complaint

On May 16, 2014Plaintiffs filed an administrative due process complaint, alleging that
DCPSviolated R.H.’s right to &APE. AR 192. Plaintiffsraised ten separate issues in their
complaint, including DCPS’ alleged failure to: (1) provide access to R.H.’s sumwtls; (2)
perform a comprehensive evaluatiorRoH.; (3) perform comprehensive-exaluations oR.H.

uponMs. Hill’s request; (4) conduct a complete functional behavior assessment (‘FEBA”)

2 Since the filing of the administrative due process complaint in the progsdatifow, R.H. has reached the age of
majority. Compl. § 4.

3 An FBA is “a systematic process of identifying the purpose, and mor#ispkcthe function, of problem
behaviors by investigating the preexisting environmental factorfidivat served the purpose of these behaviors.”
Patrick OberProactive Protection: How the IDEA can Better Address the BehaviotalleRraf Children with




R.H.; (5) timely authorize an independent educational evaluation (“IEE”); (6) review existing
evaluations to develop R.H.’s individualized education programs (“IEPs”); (7) develop
appropriate IEPs based on R.H.’s educational needs; (8) prappigmentR.H.’s IEPs; 0)
provide an appropriate placement; and (10) incMdeHill in the IEP decision making process.
Id. Plaintiffs’ proposed remedies included a declaration that DCPS dertieca FAPEan
order for DCPS to fund R.H.jslacement at New Beginnings Vocational School (“New
Beginnings”) and an order to convene a new IEP meeting to review available evaluations,
request funding for additional IEEs, and determine appropriate compensataajicadtiarR.H.
Id. at 202-03'

C. The Administrative Record

On August 6, 2014, due process hearing was held before a hearing offideat 443—
785. Several days later, the hearing officer issuedhkaring officer's determinatiofiHOD”),
denying all of Plaintif§’ requested tef. Id. at 3-13. This HOD was based on evidence in the
academic record, includirig.H.’s IEPs,multiple evaluations, Plaintéf representations, and
testimony from special education exper8eeid. The relevant portions of the administrative
record are recounted below.

1. January 2013 IEP

On December 11, 2012, a multidisciplinary team (“MDT”) met to discuss R.H.’s
academic status at Easteid. at 23. During this meeting)s. Hill participatel telephonically

and her legal representatigad advocateJazmone Taylogttended irperson.ld. The rest of

Disabilities in Schools, 1 Belmont Rev.311, 337 (2014) (citin@erry A. Zirkel,State Special Education Laws for
Functional Behavioral Assessment and Behavior InterveRtiams 36J. Behav Disorder262, 262 (2011)).

4The IDEA prescribes fawo-year statute of limitationsSee20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(C)Plaintiffs filed their due
process complaint on May 16, 2014, AR 192, so they may only assert compeedatatorclaims beginning on
May 16, 2012seeDamarcus S. v. Distf Columbig No. 15851 (ESH)2016 WL 2993158, at *{D.D.C. May 23,
2016)(citing G.L. v. Ligonier Valley Sch. Dist. Auth802 F.3d 601, 6126 (3d Cir. 2015)).




the MDT consisted of James Robinson, who representeddaledducational agency (“LEA”);
TravisCox, R.H.’'scase manager; and a social workiek. The team discussd®lH.’s
inconsistent attendance, his academic standing, his school uniform, and the ayafabili
transportation to and from schodd. Theteam created an attendance pkmgouragg R.H. to
remain after schodbr extraarricular activities.ld. Further, i confirmedthatR.H. “is
receiving transportation every month from Mr. [LaVaughainer,” andarranged for Mr. Cox
to “ask teachers to provide work packet[s] for [the] first 3 weeks of schabl.Finally, he
team arranged fdR.H. to wash his uniform at schoold.

Following the MDT meeting, Mr. Cox telephonkts. Hill to notify her about R.H.’s
upcoming IEP meetingn January 11, 2013, to whidis. Hill responded that she would attend.
Id. at 25. Mr. Cox also informefd.H. to attend school “so that [Mr. Cox] could test him for the
IEP.” Id. On January 7, 2013, Mr. Cox séhH. home with a draft IEP so thits. Hill could
participate in the meeting by phonlel. at 30. Plaintiffs ultimately did not attend or directly
participate inthis meeting, though Ms. Taylor, their educational advocate, attended in person.
Id. at 37. The IEP meeting was held on January 11, 2013, to update IEFHgsals in light of
the results from recent academic and vocational assessntkras 35. Attendees included a
general education teacher; a social worker; Mr. Robinson, the LEA re@t@se=rand Mr. Cox,
whointerpretedR.H.’s evaluation results and servaslthe team’s special education teacher
at 37.

This IEP diagnoseR.H. with a “specific learning disability,” prescribed annual goals

for three academic areas of conceincluding mathematics, reading, and writitagnd outlined

5> Specific learning disabilitis

a disorder in one or more of the basic psychological processes involved in urtiegsterin
usinglanguage, spoken or written, that may manifest itself in the imqteability to listen, think,



a pat-secondary transition plan for R.Hd. at 42-54. Baselines fdR.H.’sacademic areas of
concern were developed from the results of his Woodcock-Johnson Ill Test of Achieveme
(“WJ-1lIl ACH”) from December 18, 2012ld. at 42-45° First,R.H.’s mathscore placed him in
the “low range,” showing that “he lacks some foundational math skilis.at 42. Specifically,
R.H. obtained (1) a “low” broad math standard score (“SS”) of 70, which correlatggsddea
equivalence (“GE”) of 4.7; (2) a “very low¢alculation SS of 63, which correlates to a GE of
3.8; (3) a “very low” math fluency SS of 67, which correlates to a GE of 3.9; and (4) an
“average” applied problems SS of 90, which correlates to a GE ofdb.a he IEPfurthernoted
R.H.’s poor Algebra | attendance, which prevented him from “develop[ing] higher order math
skills,” so R.H.’smathematics goais this IEPwere “to correctly borrow in doubleigit
subtraction[,] . . . multiply a doublgigit number by a singtdigit number[,] . . . [and] add
fractions” with at least 80% proficiencyd. at 42-43.

Second, R.H.’seading score was in the “low range,” showing a “basic ability to read and
comprehend information” and a weakness for decoding unfamiliar words and stiratsi3.
In particular, R.H. received (1) a “low” broad reading SS of 76, which corsdlai@ GE of 5.2;
(2) a “low” letterword identification SS of 74, which correlates to a GE of 4.8; (3) a reading
fluency SS of 76, which correlates to a GE of 5.0; anari4average” passage comprehension

SS of 90, which correlates to a GE of 61d. According to the IEP, R.H.’s weakness in this

speak, read, write, spell, or to do mathematicalutafions, including conditions such as
perceptual disabilities, brain injury, minimal brain dysfunction, dyaleand developmental
aphasia.

34 C.F.R § 300.8c)(10).

5 The WJlIl ACH is a standardized, nationally nofreferenced examination, dividaéwto subtests, that assesses a
student’s level of educational proficiency against his age group ane lgral. Woodcockohnsofi 1Il Normative
Update, Houghton Mifflin Harcourhttp://www.hmhco.com/hmiassessments/cognitinetelligence/wiiii -nu (last
visited July 7, 2016).



area‘makes it difficult for jhim] to read and process passagds.’” Thus, R.H.’geading goals
included correctly decodgunfamiliar words at his reading level, using context clues to
determine the meaning of those words, and independently reading passages amhigsihtpc
make accurate inferences, all with at least 80% proficielttyat 43-44.

Finally, R.H. scorel in the “very low range” for written expression, highlighting
weaknesses with syntax, grammar, handwriting, and particularly withrgpdli. at 45.
According to the WJ-1ll ACH, R.H. received (1) a “very low” broad writing S$2fwhich
correlatesd a GE of 3.4; (2) a “low” writing fluency SS of 70, which correlates to a GE of 3.9;
(3) a “low” writing samples SS of 76, which correlates to a GE of 4.6; and (4) albwet
spelling SS of 63, which correlates to a GE of 2. The IEP prescribedagls forR.H. to
correctly use spelling rules during graded assignments and accurat&lizzapnd punctuate
sentences with at least 80% proficienddy. at 45-46.

The IEP’spost-secondary transition pléor R.H. was based on his reported interests
well as the results of his VW ACH and BRIGANCE E-2 assessmentsboth administered on
December 18, 2012d. at 507 R.H.reported that he was interested in employment as a
mechanic, a construction worker, and a photograplderR.H.’sWJ-1ll ACH results, described
above, indicated that he required additional development of necessary skills to manage a
personal budgetld. The BRIGANCE E2 assessment revealed tRat. prefers an outdoor,
noisy working environment that requires physical energy, use of hands, and sulistamitigj.

Id. Using that information, the IEP prescribed goals for R.H.’s post-secordlargton,

”The BRIGANCE Transition Skills Inventory (“TSI”) contains aggpropriate vocational assessments that support
transition planning for high school studenfeeSupportingTransition Plans for Students with Severe Cognitive
Delays, BRIGANCE, 2, http://casamples.com/downloads/TransitionPlanSuppSHIEDIII.pdf (last visited July

8, 2016). Section of the TSI is an oral assessment that evaluates the career inteststienfs with severe
cognitive delays.Id.



employment, and independent livinggl. at 5153. In anticipation of receiving posécondary
technical trainig, R.H.’s goal was to research technical training programs, for which school
officials would provide guidance for one hour during the yddrat 51. To achieve futime
employmentR.H.’s goal was to conduct information interviews with mechanics deggatheir
education and skill requirements, and the school agreed toRd4istith interview practice for
one hour per monthid. at 52. As for properly maintaining a budget upon graduating, R.H.’s
goal was to work with teachers for one hour per yeascertain the categories of daily living
expenses and the average amounts of elaclat 52-53.

Additionally, the IEP prescribed standardized testing accommodations, ggekcial
instruction, and transportation services for RIHl.at 4749. Theesting accommodations
allowedR.H. to receive repetition of classroom and testing directions, to write in his test
booklets and use a calculator for assistance, and to take tests in a separatersattiegtended
duration. Id. at 48. Moreover, the IEP prescribed ten hours of weekly specialized instruction for
R.H. that should occur “outside of the general education settilgg &t 47. Prior to this IEP,
R.H.received this instruction within general education classrooms foffigalizours per week,
but his failing grades necessitated the charnde The IEP also required thRLH. receive access
to the Washington Metro System (“Metro”) for transportation to and from school, and it
expressly denieR.H. access to extended school year servitesat 49.

2. SchoolAdministeredPsychological Evaluation

During the MDT meetindpeld on December 11, 201¥s. Hill requested that DCPS
perform “a comprehensive psychological” evaluatiorRoH. because “there were no

evaluations on [R.H.'somplete educational] file.ld. at 24. DCPS obtaindds. Hill’s written



consent for this evaluation on January 18, 2@d.3t 56, and the evaluation was conducted on
February 14, 2013, id. at 58.

The results of this evaluation were released iepant on March 4, 2013, which
contained results from a Reynolds Intellectual Assessment Scake"Fdnd information
gathered from interviews with Plainsffand R.H.'seachers.ld.® R.H.’s RIAS results included
a CIX of 72, a VIX of 84, and a NIX of 81all of which fallwithin the “Low Average” range
and a CMX of 77, which falls within the “Borderline” rangiel. at 65-66. These scores
indicated thaR.H. more effectively processes verbal information if accompanied by visual
representations, that he requires multi-step directions to be broken down and repeatet], and tha
learning accommodations wowdsistR.H. with initiating and completing assignmentsl. at
66. This evaluation also obtained interviews from R.H.’s English and World Histaiyetes.

Id. at 63. R.H.’s English teacher reported that he “[d]oes not come to class ofiemiar t
homework,” but wheiR.H. does attend class, he quickly understands the content and acts
respectfully towardthe teacherld. The World History teacher reported tfaH. is focused
when attending class, but he never completes homevarkBoth teachers have previously
encouragedR.H. to attend afteschool tutorials and have sddtH. home with make-up work
packets, but heever attendafterschool tutorials and the packets never return to schdol.

DuringR.H.’s evaluative interview, he reported that he fails to regularly attend school
either because of illnesses or, more often, because “he just did not feel like.tolinge also
reported attempting homework assignments but struggling to complete them witinadrtedp.

Id. R.H. expressed interest in obtaining oneare tutoring but was resistant to stayaftgr

8The RIAS assesses cognitive intelligence by assessing both verbal aadoabreasoning and memory abilities.
AR 64. A student’s scores form three indices: the Verbal Intelligence ({EX") for verb al reasoning, the
Nonverbal Intelligence Index (“NIX") for nonverbal reasoningoth of which form the Composite Intelligence
Index (“CIX") —and the Composite Memory Index (“CMX") for both verbal and nonverbatong. Id.



school for tutoring.ld. The evaluator codlnot reaciMs. Hill for an interview, but she noted
her pior concerns regarding R.H.’s ability to “get to school” and the provision of homework
assignments to improve his academic performaitteThe evaluatoalso attempted several
times to observe R.H. in class, but eatiemptwas unsuccessful “due to [R.H.’s] inconsistent
attendance.”ld. According to the report’s summary, the interviews and R3doses indicated
that his “difficulty with memory, social emotional functioning, and academiolenas [were]
consistent with learning difficulties associated W#hSpecific Learning Didaility.” 1d. at 69.
The report recommended thHatH. consult with a social worker or counselor sociat
emotional support relating to his “motivation, anxiety, and frustration in the @tassrand that
an attendance plan or behavioral plan would “asRist ] in getting to school and going to class
consistently’ Id. at 70. It also recommended teaching strategies to accomnfthte
specific learning disability, such as providing interactive learning actiyvalesvingR.H. to
take small breaks from larger assignments, and applying a multimodal ¢eagpinach. Id.
On March 20, 2013, DCPgft a voicemail withMs. Hill to schedule a meeting to review the
report. Id. at 32. The administrative record does not contain a responsdgoHiill or any
other communication from DCPS regarding such a meeting.

3. Ms. Hill's August 1, 2013 Request for Additional Evaluations

On August 1, 201 R laintiffs submitteda written request for DCP® perform four
independent educational evaluatigh&€Es’) of R.H..° a comprehensive psychological
evaluation, an FBA, a speetdnguage evaluation, and a vocational level || assessriterat

110, 276. On September 13, 20P&intiffs’ new legal representative, Nicholas Ostrem,

9 Under 34 C.F.R. § 300.503(5[a] parent has the right to an [IEE] at public expense if the parent disagthem
evaluation obtained by the public agency[.]” 34 C.F.R. § 300.502(b).



emailed DCPS to asse$® status of the pending IEE requdst. at 106. That same day, Mr.
Robinson, the LEA representative, responded that he had not reB&audiffs’ request, but
“once [Ms. Hill] signs the consent[,] DCPS will complete” the requested FBA and speech
language assessmemd. at 105. On September 17, 200/&. Hill clarified thatshealso
requested IEEs for the comprehensive psychological evaluation and the vo@ssesament.
Id. at 303. She challenged the comprehensive psychological evaluation from March 4, 2013, and
the vocational assessment from December 18, 2012, both of which DCPS had previously
conducted.|d.® During an MDT meeting on October 10, 2048s. Hill, with Mr. Ostrem
presem, signed a consent form for DCPS to administer the FBlAat 128. However, DCPS
refused to administer a spedenguage assessmaitR.H. before its speech pathologist could
perform a classroom observation “to determine any possible negative eiétts][verbal
expression abilities [were] having on his academic growthfi]’at 124. The MDT also took
note ofMs. Hill’s representatiothatR.H. hadreceived speeelanguage services for a-1@ar
old speech impediment and that it “no longer affect[ed] his communicatidn.lndeed, a
speecHanguage evaluation was conducted on March 9, 2004, which recommended no services
“in the area of speech languagédd. at 66-61.
a. SchoolAdministered Functional Behavior Assessment

After the MDT meeting, DCPS called and emailed Mr. Ostrem on November 25, 2013, to
schedule an IEP Team meetitagdiscuss the forthcomirfgBA’s results. Id. at 32, 300. Té
results were released in a repdatedDecember 1, 2013. Id. at 142-45. Theetng was

scheduled for December 12013. _Id. at 101. According to the FBéport, the examiner

10 By contrastfollowing Ms. Hill’s August 1, 2013 request, DCPS was not required to arrange for independent
evaluations regarding the requested FBA and sple@tjuage evaluation because no previous evaluations were
available. See34 C.F.R. § 300.502(b)(1).

10



gleaned information from classroom observations, teacher questionnairespaevintgth
R.H., reviews of R.H.’s attendance records and progress repndslata from antecedent
behavioreonsequence (“ABC* charts and Ohio Scalé$.|d. at 143—-44'3

The report identifiedR.H.'s truancy as his primary concern because of its harm to his
academic achievement, but the report noted that “[b]ehavioraR/;].] seems to be doing
well.” 1d. at 142. The report emphasized the results of RPhis Scales assessment,
particularly the problem severity section, which “measures occurrenceseasidniificance of
problematic behaviors.€[,] arguing, opposition, lying, sadness, etc.)d. Examinees quantify
the student’s behavior on a scale of 0 to 100, with higher scores indicetregsignificant
behavioral issuesld. Teachers gavB.H. an average score of 2.5 out of 100 for this section:
“the lowestaverage score, given by teachers, that [the examiner] ha[d] ever &en.”
Meanwhile,R.H. self-scored his problem severity as 31 out of 100, specifically identifying
anger, anxiety, and depression as his probldcthsThe report noted that R.H $df-reported
score was “clinically significant,” and that his truancy was likely related te@egnand
depression, but it further noted that R.H.’s problems “most often occur[] beforeves dori
school.” Id.

Next, the report assessed the charadtesisfR.H.’s truancy, opining that results from

his lack of motivation, depressive symptoms, and poores¢éfem.ld. In addition, the report

1 The ABC correlation is a tool employed to determiree¢ause and effect of a student’s behavioral issBes.
AR 577.

12 The Ohio Youth Problems, Functioning, and Satisfaction Scales (“Ohies3cmeasure outcomes for youths
who receive mental health services. Measurement Tools, California EviBasext Clearinghouse for Child
Welfare,http://www.cebc4cw.org/assessmaoobl/ohio-youth-problemsfunctioningandsatisfactiorscalesohio-
scales(last accessed August 22, 2016

BWhile the FBA states that ABC charts, interviews, questionnaires;lasgroom observations were used to
compile this report, these informatigathering tools are not documented in the administrative record.

11



identified that R.H.’s homelessness ansl Hill’s physical ailmentasmajor environmental
contributors to his truancyid. at 143 At school,R.H. has previously received detention as a
consequence for his truancy, but “[he] is rarely consequenced for behavioratisicide to his
routine pattern of good behaviorld. Ms. Hill also represented thBtH. receives psychiatric
therapy at Community Connections, where he was diagnosed with depression andegrescrib
treatment.Id. According to the report, therapy appeared to impRN&'s decisioamaking

skills and academic performance, considering his 0.8 GPA increase whitgpértg in
therapy. 1d.

When analyzindR.H.’s academic problems, the report failed to uncover “any significant
problematic behaviors related to resistance, defiance, or oppositibrat 144. Instead, the
reportconcluded that his problems “ha[ve] been completely related to his truancy,” whilgh par
results from depression and lack of motivatiéth. None of these issues appeared to relate to
environmental factors within the schoohv@onment; rather, the assessment only revealed off
campus contributors — i.e., homelessness, povertyMandiill’s physical ailments- in addition
to R.H.’s depression and lack of motivatiola.. Ultimately, the report recommended that
Plaintiffs schedule a medication evaluation to determiie . could benefit from a Zoloft
prescription for his depression, tihas. Hill encouragéR.H. not to skip school to care for her,
and thaR.H. seek partime employment to help his family without sacrifig his educationld.
at 144-45.

b. Independenty Administered Psychological Evaluation

Plaintiffs arranged for an independent comprehensive psychological evahitatien

District’s expensewhich occurred on November 6, 2018. at 147. ThidEE garnered

1t appears from the record thds. Hill suffers from a physical disability, the care for which contributed kb'&.
absenteeism. The nature and severity of this disability remains unkondhe Court.

12



information from interviews with Plaintiéfand teachers, classroom observations, projective
tests, and results from four assessments: (1) the Wechsler Adligémet Scale (“WAIS
IV”), which measures cognitive functioning; (2) the Wechsler Individual Acreent Test
(“WIAT -l1I"), which measures learning aptitude; (3) the Bedyktenica Developmental Test
(“Beery VMI”), which measures the integration of visual and motor abilitied;(4) the
Behavior Assessment Scale for Children (“BAR0), which measures social and emotional
functioning through survey responsdd. at 147—-60.Plaintiffs received the results of this
evaluation in a report dated December 18, 2013. Id. at 14708trem forwarded the report to
DCPS on that same day. Id. at 101.

According to the report, the examirigst interviewedR.H. and Mr. Cox — R.H.’s
previous case manager and current reading teaclgout hisn-class behavior and
performance.ld. at 150. Mr. Cox reported thRtH. is focused in his five-person reading class,
he works well with classmaend the teacher, he maintains “very high verbal cognition, but is
on a seventh grade reading level,” and his attendance improved from the previoud.yBaH.
reported significant stress due to his family’s homelessness, causing leehaoder and
depressionld. In his interview, R.H. stated that he hopes to graduate from high school and find
work as a landscaper or mechanid. During classroom observatiori®,H. followed all
directions and was “on-task and focused” for most of class,eonéither completed every-in
class assignment nor arrived to class with all necessary matddiadd.151.

Two projective tests the Graphic Projective Technique and Three Wishes Technique —
were also performed in this evaluatiod. at 159-60. The Graphic Projective Technique asked
R.H.to draw pictures of a house, a tree, and a person to “provide a measure of selfepsrcept

and attitudes.”ld. at 159. According to the drawind®,H. may suffer from depression, anxiety,

13



and lowselfesteem, and he may be defiant and aggressive when overwhédtinddhe Three
Wishes Technique identifies the events thaght alleviate anxiety by asking.H.to name three
wishes he would want to come trulel. R.H. wished for (1) more money, (2) all of his problems
to go away, and (3) his mother to walk agdith. at 159—-60. The examiner noted that the
content of R.H.’s wishes result from his inability “to cope with the various intandhkexternal
stressors” irhis life, and the examiner opined that R.Hdping mechanism may manifest as
hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattentiorid. at 161.

Finally, the report included the results of multiple assessments that evauldted
academic and social intelligee. The WAISH/ placedR.H.’s cognitive abilities at the 13th
percentile, which falls in the “extremely low” ranglgl. at 152. According to the WIATH,

R.H. received (1) a “below average” oral language SS of 83, which correlated terageaGE

of 6.5 and placed hisral language abilitieletter than or equal to 13% of students his é&)ea
“low” basic reading SS of 62, which correlated to an average GE of 2.6 and pisbasic
reading abilitiedetter than or equal to 1% of students his &8)ea “low” written expression SS
of 57, which correlated to an average GE of 2.8 and placeuritisg abilitiesbetterthan or

equal to 0.2% of students his agad(4) an “average” mathematics SS of 73, which correlated
to an average GE of 4.8 and g@dhis mathematics abilities better than or equal%eof

students his agdd. at 153-55. In addition, the Beery VMI placed R.H.’s integration of visual
and motor abilities ithe “below average” rangdd. at 156. R.H.'s BASC-2 survey reported
thatheis in the ‘tlinically significant range for depression and anxiety, Mr. Cox’s survey

reported thaR.H.is in the “at risk range for somatizatiot, and R.H.’s survey indicated

15 Somatization isthe conversion of mental experiences or states into bodily symptdbesland’s lllustrated
Medical Dictionary 1544 (28th ed. 1994).
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“clinically significant anxiety and somatization, as well as an risk' level of depression and
sense of inadequacyd. at 160.

The examiner made several recommendations in the report, some of which she later
clarified in an affidavit for the due process heariggeid. at 161-62. In her original report, the
examinerrecommended that R.H.’s IEfRassify R.H. as a student wighspecial learning
disability, but she also recommended including in R.H.’s IEP an “emotional distefbanc
classification.|d. at 161¢ Additionally, she recommended tHaH. receive intensive, fullime
specialized instruction in a small class settiidy. The examiner also believed thuH. should
be placed in a fultime vocational school “which offers training in the auto mechanics trade.”
Id. at 161-62. In her affidavit, the examimeasoned thaR.H.’slow academic scores and social
difficulties would benefit from a trade school that also remediates acadefiuitsd Id. at 401.
The examiner next recommended tRatl. receive oubf-school tutoring and in-school
counseling to adésss his academic and social difficultied. at 162. Finally, she recommended
thatR.H.receive a vocational level Il assessment “to assist with his vocationa| godlghe
transtion to independent living,” as well asspeechlanguage evaluation to “ascertaini.H]
will require speech and language services in the school settohglh her affidavit, the

examiner opined that no evidence suggestsRitdt“has ever received [v]ocational testing,”

16 Emotional disturbance is

a condition exhibiting one or more of the following characteristics aveng period of time and

to a marked degree that adversely affects a child's educational perforr(@néer inability to

learn that cannot be explainedibyellectual, sensory, or health facto8) An inability to build

or maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships with peers and teaf@peinappropriate

types of behavior or feelings under normal circumstan(@@ysA general pervasive mood o
unhappiness or depressiofic) A tendency to develop physical symptoms or fears associated with
personal or school problems.

34 C.F.R. § 300.8(c)(4)()).
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and that a vaational level Il assessment would revBaH.’s career aptitude and the necessity
for career explorationld. at 402.

4, December 2013 IEP

During the MDT on October 10, 2013, DCPS coordinated Rldimtiffs to create an
attendance plato addres®R.H.’s absenteeismld. at 124—-25.Ms. Hill attended this meeting
with Mr. OstremR.H.’s sister, and special education advocate Sharon Midlisat 123. R.H.

did not physically attend, but he telephonically joined a portion of the medtingt 125.

DCPS also arranged for several of its representatives to attend #tisgneéMir. Robinson, in

his capacity as the LEA representatiizéiza Robinson, as R.H.&pecial education teacher and
case managgeas well as a social worker and speech pathstiold. at 123. At the meeting,
R.H. reported that he most commonly stayed home because he either felt ill, neededdo car
his sick mother, lacked a cleaniform, or could not use his Metro pass after 9:00 ddnat

124. R.H.repoted that he had received a newetkb pass on October 9, 2013, and DCPS agreed
thatR.H. could receive new monthly passes from school officials in the futdret 124, 131.
DCPS also agreed to alld:H. to utilize Eastern’s laundry facilities to wash his clothed
recommended th&.H. obtain new clothes from community charitessEastern had no more
uniforms to provide.ld. at 131.

R.H.’s current IEP was set to expire on January 10, Z&bid. at 40, so his IEP Team
agreed to convene an IEP meetingZ00 p.m. on December 19, 2013, id. at 1Btior tothis
meeting, DCPS collected progress reports fRui.’steachersid. at 136—40, and DCPS
administered the FBA described abonk,at 101. DCPS forwarded tR8A to Plaintiffs on
December 5, 2013ld. at 310. Plaintiffs also obtained the independent psychological evaluation,

which was described above, on December 18, 201.3.
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Plaintiffs forwardedhe independent psychological evaluatiesultsto DCPS at 2:07
p.m. on December 18, 20181 respons, DCPS stated in an emtiht “another meeting will
need to be scheduled to review the evaluation given it was provided on such short ihtete.”
299. Plaintiffs, through their attorney, repliéidat same day, requesting that the IEP medieng
rescheduledSeeid. at 298. On the morning of the IEP meetigintiffs’ attorneyrepeated
that request in a voicemdakleft with the LEA representativéseeid. Onehour before the
scheduled IEP meeting, he again emailed DCPS to reschedule the meeting Mec&libavas
also feeling ill. Id.” DCPS finally responded nearly six hours after the IEP meetingtdtistay
statingthat the meeting was held on schedule because all necessary members had committed to
attend. Id. Theparticipants included Mr. Robinsan his capacity as the LEA representative;
one of R.H.’sgeneral education teachers; a social wor&ed Ms. Robinson, who attended the
meeting to interpreR.H.’s evaluation results and to serve as the team’s special emtucati
teacher.ld. at 167. DCPS promised to provid&intiffs no earlier than January 19, 204#h
botha copy of the IEP angroposed dates for an additional meeting to amend the IEP in
accordance with the independent evaluation’s residtsat 298. According to DCPS, it would
not be able to convene another IEP meeting to review the independent evaluahotyfor
calendar daysid.

On December 20, 201BJaintiffs’ attorneyadmonished DCPS for conducting the IEP
meetingin Ms. Hill’'s absencend for failing to include a psychologist to review the independent
evaluation at the meetindd. at 310. His email asked to reconvéime IEP Teanduring the

first week of January 2014 to amend the IEP, statil that“[i]f not, we're just going to fie” a

17 While the record includes this email, it only references the first tweeddttiorney’s requests to reschedule.
Nevertheless, DCPS did not correct the record in subsequent emaihgashiés motion briefs, or during the
proceedings before this Courty the Court will treat these factual representations as undisputed.

17



lawsuit. Id. In response, DCPS explained that the special education office would be closed
during the holiday bredf and confirmed its intent to provide dates foraditional IEP
meeting to review the independent evaluatitth.at 336. However, DCPS later admitted that it
neverprovided dates pursuant to this promise, and a subsequent IEP meeting was never held.
Hrg. Tr. at 3. Plaintiffs’ attorneyreplied on December 23, 2013 that he viewed DCPS’ response
“as a refusal to convene an IEP team meeting With Hill’s] input by” thecurrent IEP’s
January 10, 2014 expiration date. AR 336.

As for theDecember 201 &P itself, it updatedR.H.’s annual goals for his academic
areas of concern and included a post-secondary transitioniglaat. 169—-81. DCPS first
updated R.H.’snathematics and reading goals from the results of Form B of tHé YWGJH,
which R.H. took on December 18, 2018. at 169. According to those results, R.Hiiath
score remained in the “low range,” showing that he still “lacks some foundbtiath skills.”
Id. Specifically, he obtained (1) a “low” broad math score that correlated to a GE (#)47;
“very low” calculation score that correlated to a GEdf; (3) a “low” math fluency score that
correlated to a GE of 5.2; and (4) an “average” applied problems score that cotoetatel of
6.6. Id. R.H.’snew mathematics goals were to solve equations and inequalities “with 75%
accuracy[,] as measureg Quarterly Paced Interim Assessments and observations,” and to use
properties of real numbers to simplify calculatioihs. at 169—70.

RegardingR.H.’sreading score, it also remained in the “low range,” showing the same
“basic ability to read and cqmrehend information” and the same weakness for decoding

unfamiliar words and sounds as in the January 2013 IERat 170. In particular, R.H. received

8 During the 20132014 school year, DCPS held its winter break from Friday, Decemb2023, through Sunday,
January 5, 2014. DCPS Calendar: School Year-2B4,3-7, availableat http://dcps.dc.gov/node/9367 Tiast
accessed August 22, 2016). Monday, January 6 was designated as a paifdeselopment day for teachers and
staff members onlyld.
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(1) a “low” broad reading score that correlated to a GE of 5.2; (2) a “low”-letieat

identification score that correlated to a GE of 3.9; and (3) a reading fluency scocertieddted

to a GE of 6.5.1d.?° R.H.’snew reading goals were to explicitly cite, and draw inferences from,
textual evidence to support his analysis of “what the text says,” and to analyzemgex
characters develop relationships throughout the text and advance thiel plot.

DCPS determineR.H.’s new writing score from the results o0NdAT —l1l from
November 6, 2013I1d. at 171. Specifically, these results revealed@” written expression SS
of 57, which placed R.H.’s writing abilities greater than or equal to 0.2% of othenttunige
age, and a “very low” sentence composition SS of 54, which correlated to a GE lof. 1The
IEP highlighted weaknesses with syntax, grammar, handwriting, and parjicuiidrispelling.

Id. R.H.’sgoals for this area of concern were to develop “experiences or events usitigesffe
techniques, well-chosen details, and well-structured event sequences,” anddp deve
strengtherwriting by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying something deifer Id.

The IEP’s post-secondary transition plan collected information from Réhésted
interests and the results of his WJACH and BRIGANCE E2 assessments, colledton
December 18, 2013d. at 146, 177. According t&.H., his functional interests included
“looking for jobs, driving, [and] making a resumeld. at 146. He also expressed interests in
attending community college or vocational school, as well as interests in leghjowg to work
on cars, how to build stuff, [and] how to work hardd. RegardingR.H.’sassessment results,
his scores for both the WI-ACH and BRIGANCE E-2 were identical to his respective scores

from the January 2013 IEFSeeid. at 177. As for R.H.’s vocational goals, his new post-

19 Unlike the January 2013 IEP, it appears that no SSs were provided forheAZH taken prior to the
December 2013 IEP. Further, the December 2013 IEP contained neither ardRdt’'s reading fluency SS nor
any information regarding his passage composition.
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secondary education goal was to research community college programkidioischool

officials would provide guidance for one hour during the yédwat 178. R.H.’s1.ew

employment goal was to research requirements to become a landscaper and reeiew tho
requirements with his teacher. Id. at 179. His new independent living goal was te acqui
driver’s license by studying a driver’'s education handbook and corestwdlyering at least 80%

of the questions on a practice test. Id. at 180. To assist R.H. with the completion of theese goa
DCPS would provide him with access to a computer for four hours per year to research
landscaper requirements and driver’s education websteasid. at 179-80.

Additionally, this IEP retained much of R.Hpsior testing accommodations and related
instructional servicesld. at 173-76.Like theJanuary 2013 IEP, R.H.testing accommodations
allowed him to receive repetition of classroom and testing directions, to write istimtklets
and use a calculator for assistance, and to take tests in a separatessettirextended duration.
Id. at 175. This IEP also continued prescribing ten hours of weekly specializedtiastfarc
R.H. “outside of the general education setting,” id. at 174, and it still dé&hlddaccess to
extended school year services, id. at 176. However, the December 2013 IEP fievratbd
prior IEP in that itho longer requed DCPS to providd&R.H. with access to transportation
servicesjd., andthat itincludedas a “special factor” th&.H.’s behavior did not impede his or
others’ learning._Id. at 168. On May 16, 204, Hill filed an administrative due process
complaint on behalf dR.H. Id. at192.

5. Due Process Hearing

A due process hearing occurred on August 6 and 8, 2014, id. at 407, during which
Plaintiffs both testified and were represented by counsel, id. at 5S0B4&itiffs also arranged

for two special education expertdls. Millis and Sharold Smithk to testify on their behalfld.

20



at 557-636, 638—48. Additionally, DCPS proffered testimony from Mr. Cox, Rspe'sial
education teacher and case manager at Eadterat 655—736. The relevant portions of each
witness’ testimony are summarized below.

a. Ms. Hill’s Testimony

DuringMs. Hill’s testimony, she reported tHatH. was prohibited from attending
Eastern for the first six weeks of the 2012-2013 schoolbezause DCPS claimed that he
resided outside of Eastern’s district bounddd;.at 511. She also testified thatH. did not
receive homenstruction from any DCPS teachers during that periddat 512. According to
Ms. Hill, R.H. was permitted toaturn to Eastern only after she spoke to the school bédwret
511. OnceR.H.returned, DCPS informdds. Hill thatR.H. would receive a “tag along [to]
held] and assist him with his work.1d. According toMs. Hill, no such accommodati@ver
occurred.ld. at 51546.

Referring to the MDT meeting from October 10, 203, Hill testified that she had
requested counseling services to address R.H.’s mental health problems andPtBatddC
refused her requestd. at 518. She also asked DCPS why it had discontinued Rptéch
language services without a speech evaluation, but DCPS responded that it found no need to
continue thosservices.Id. at 519. Ms. Hill further testified thaR.H.’s attendance plan, which
was developed during that meeting, “worked out for like the first week][,] and then when
[Plaintiffs] moved[,] . . . everything changedd. at 520. According tds. Hill, DCPS
informedR.H. in January 2014 that it would no longer provide him with transportation because
he moved closer to Eastertd. at 522. As a resulis. Hill paid $30 per month fdR.H. to

access the Metro for the remainder of the 2@034 school yearld.
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RegardingVis. Hill’s participation inR.H.’s IEP meetingsshetestified that “[she]
wanted to take part and advocate RrH.]" Id. at 524. She wanted to discuss R.H.’s
transportation problem and mental health difficulties for his January 2013 IEP bugdonse
unknown to the Court, she was unable to atteadrtbeting.Id. at 514. For R.H."®ecember
2013 IEP Ms. Hill testified that DCPS refused her request to reschedule the meeting for January
10, 2014.1d. at 52324. Ultimately,Ms. Hill testified that she did not believe that Eastern was
meetingR.H.’s individual needsld. at 526. She explained that Eastern did not “prefute.]
for the work market” because it lacked any vocational progradhst 525. Eastern instead has
an afterschool vocational program, bMts. Hill testified that “you gotd get good grades” to
attend. Id. Ms. Hill also testified thalR.H. would benefit from both independent tutoring and
counseling services, and thatH. would take advantage of such opportunities if they became
available to him.Id. at 52728.

b. R.H.’s Testimony

When asked about the 2012-2013 school Y&, testified that he could not attend
Eastern for “some weeks” in the beginning because DCPS infdRaedhat he “wasn’t in the
boundary.” Id. at 535. R.H. also submitted that DCPS did not provide him with tutoring or
home-instruction during that periodd. As for the remainder of that school yeRrH. testified
that he used the Metro to arrive at school, as well as a “fr¢g busbut [he was] not always up
to make the free bus.Id. at 536. R.H. explained thaMs. Hill, “and sometimes the school,”
provided him with access to the Metro throughout that year, but his attendance su#teneseb
that access was “not always” providdd. R.H.further testified that he was only enrolled in
general education classes that school year and received no specializetionstrom an

inclusion teacher within those classéd. at 537.
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When asked about his classes during the 2013-2014 schodRyeaestified that he
was enrolled in at least one special education couds@t 540. MoreovelRR.H.testified that an
inclusion teacher assisted him with Algebra | for two or three class pe@atisveek, but this
teacher assisted the entire clagk.at 540, 548. R.H.’s major issues during that school year
involved his school uniform and school transportatigh.at 538. Regarding R.H.’s uniform, he
explained that “[sJometimes [it] wasn’t clean, [and] sometimes [he] ddve the right color to
wear.” Id. R.H. also explained that he could not afford to pay for public transportation, so
DCPS sometimes gave him bus tokens at the beginning of the schooldyedr538—39.

However, according tB.H., DCPS discontinued his transportation sexVi little bit before
Christmas break,” shis. Hill provided him with transportation for the remainder of the school
year. Id. at 539.

DuringR.H.’stestimony, he also discussed his vocational needs. First, he testified that
Eastern did not provide any vocational programs during either schoathearthan an after
school programld. at 541. He also testified that DCPS never helped@és@arch community
college or wcational programsnterview mechanics or landscapers regardnsy work
requrements, or make progress in acquirindyi@er’s license.ld. at 54142. In additionR.H.
statel that DCPS never helped him develop independent-living skills, such asgodkeming,
and laundry._lId. at 542R.H. clarified during crosgexaminatia that DCPS did provide him
with a laundry service during the 2013-2014 school year, which he used to clean his uniform.
Id. at 549-50. When asked about his overall educational rfegtisestified that Eastern did
not teach him “anything academicallgt help him “to get a job and start drivingld. at 542—

43. By contrastR.H. believed that New Beginnings would be an appropriate placement for him

because it has “the skills you need to survivie.”at 544.
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C. Sharold Smith’s Testimony
OnAugust 6, 2014, Sharold Smith, the Director of New Beginnitegsified as a witness
for Plaintiffs. 1d. at 638—48. She explained that New Beginnings is a privateirdl-
vocational school that offers an eleven-month instructional program, cosmaafisclass sizes,
and adheres to the same academic requirements as ICRE641. She also explained that
New Beginnings offers speech and counseling services, id. at 643, and it preaardyg
students with disabilities, 80% of whom have DCPShas LEA, id. at 642. After testifying
that New Beginnings had accepf®d. into its program, Ms. Smith informed the hearing officer
thatR.H.’s IEP Team would have to arrange for his transportation to New Begsnrich@t
646. She concluded that N&eginnings “definitely ha[s] the small, wedtructured
environment to helpR.H.] with [his] academics . . . [and] vocational need&l’ at 647.
d. Sharon Millis’ Testimony
Plaintiffs also arranged for Ms. Millisa special education advocatéo testify as a
special education expert during the due process heddngt 557-637. According to Ms.

Millis’ curriculumvitae, she possesses “over 40 years of experience and dedication to the special

needs student[,] . . . with consummate expertise in both the classroom and adminastatve

Id. at 432. Her credentials as a special education expert were accepted by the hézgmg off
over DCPS’ objectionid. at 562—-63.Ms. Millis testified that she met witR.H. on one
occasion, id. at 622hat sheattended the MDT meeting which was held on October 10, 2013, id.
at 563, and that she had reviewed R.H.’s available evaluations and IEPs, id. at 5T8s585.
Millis recounted that during the MDT meetirgs. Hill asked DCPS to arrange ferH. to take

a speecHanguage evaluation, an FBA, and a vocational level Il assessment, but DCPS only

consented to the FBAM. at 568€9. Ms. Millis also recalled thatls. Hill requested counseling
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services during this meetinghich both Ms. Millis ands. Hill felt were“critical for [R.H] . . .
[b]ecause of the depressive disorder and . . . anxiédly 4t 569. However, Ms. Millis
continued, DCPS disagreed that “there was a need for counseling” and refusadde hse
services tdR.H. 1d. Additionally, the MDT discussed R.H.’s transportation issues, and Ms.
Millis testified that DCPS agreed “to givR[H.] tokens to get back and forth” from Eastern
during that meetingld. at 570.

Ms. Millis also testified regaing Plaintiffs’ requested IEE, specifically the independent
psychological evaluation that was issued on December 18, 2018 583. She first asserted
that DCPS authorized the independent psychological evali@gbhronedays afteiMs. Hill’s
August 1, 2013equest, “[b]ecause that’s when the IEE letter was givéth.at 582—-83° Ms.
Millis next explained that she had issued thousands of IEE requests throughmarekers an
educatorandwhen asked how long the authorization petygaically lasted, Ms. Millis replied
that she hathever had an IEE go over three weekBl” at 583. Regarding the independent
psychological evaluation itself, Ms. Millis opined that DCPS had never revi¢wedause
“[t]he [IEP] meeting was held on gxember] 19th[,] . . . even though [DCPS] had the
evaluation.” Id. at 584. During crosexamination, Ms. Millis admitted that she reasonably
expects to receive evaluations two or three days before an IEP meetind tHafls what DCPS
gives,”id. at 621, but Ms. Millis later clarified that DCPS has expected her to review evaluations
on the day of an IEP meeting “many times,” id. at 634.

When asked about R.H.’s evaluations, Ms. Millis asserted that DCPS failed to @ovide

comprehensive psychologiaaevaluation before R.H.’s December 2013 IE®.. at 581. Ms.

20Based on Ms. Millis’ testimony, this letter should have been datesb®c®1, 2013, but no such letter can be
found in the administrative record. However, the partio not dispute thatghty-onedays ¢éapsed betweehis.
Hill’s requesfor the IEEand DCPS’ authorizatioof it.
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Millis first testified that the psychological evaluation which DCP8aslson March 4, 2013, was
unsatisfactory because it only included an intellectual assessideat57172. Ms. Millis
remarked that this evaluation included neither clinical assessments nor@wladsessments,

id., but she did not know whether a satisfactory evaluation required the inclusion of those
assessmentg]. at 617. Regarding the FBA that DCPS issued on December 1, 2013, Ms. Millis
claimed that it lacked classroom observations and an ABC correlddioat 576—77. She also
claimed that the FBA and psychological evaluation should have been administgiet “so

that [DCPS could have] gather[ed] tméarmation and utilize[d] the information togetheid.

at 578-79.

As for Ms. Hill’s requested speedanguage evaluation, Ms. Millis testified that it was
necessary becauseéR’H.] had speech language when he was younger . . . [and] [n]Jo one knows
why speech language was droppett” at 572. Ms. Millis also testified th&.H.’s age justified
the vocational level Il assessment, which she explained should be administexéekatyears
of ageto assist with “career management, career exploration[,] and career trailingt 574%

Ms. Millis concluded this part of her testimony by claiming that a compreheresexaluation
required a speedlnguage evaluation and vocational evaluation — since they would have
assesseR.H.’s communication and vocational needss-well as “a comprehensive
psychological [evaluation] and a comprehensive FBA[d at 581, 598.

Prior to the hearing, Ms. Millis had reviewed both of R.ldvailable IEPs, and she
testified to the indequacy of both documentsl. at 585 (January 2013 IEP), 597 (December

2013 IEP). When asked whether the January 2013 IEP possessed appropriate goals and

21 Ms. Millis explained that vocational level | assessments consist of Yabasic questionnaire,” while vocational
level Il assessments provide “a little bit more on career exploration and careéngland career management,”
and vocational level Il assessments “take[] several days in order tdeterapd [are] quite extensive.” AR 573.

26



baselines, Ms. Millis responded in the negatiiee.at 587. Using R.H.’seading goal as an
example, Ms. Millis explained #t “all [the IEP] gives is a broad reading score. It doesn’t say
whether R.H.is] able to read independently or whether he’s able to use context cldest”
587-88. According to Ms. Millis, the omission of appropriate baselines on R.H.’s IERigreve
an evaluator from tracking his academic progressidnat 588. She also disapproved of R.H.’s
December 2013 IEP because its baselines gave no indication “of what he’s able to dabta not
to do.” Id. at 599. Ms. Millis opined tha&.H. should reeive fulltime specialized instruction

or 27.5 hours per week — to achieve the IEPs’ prescribed goals, rather than the drescribe
hours per week, id. at 589, and th&:1H.] could have benefited from speech and language . . .
[a]nd counseling, as W¢ id. at 593. She further opined that R.H. “is actually 6 to 9 years
behind” other students his aglel. at 605.

As for R.H.’s post-secondary goals, Ms. Millis testified that the January 2018 IEP’
transition plan was inappropriate because “[itwext based on anything . . . except for a
Woodcock-Johnson . . . and a BRIGANCHd. at 594. She also found the December 2013
IEP’s transition plan to be inappropriate because “basically[,] it'sahme exact plan as” the one
used in January 2013d. at 603. Regarding both IEPs, Ms. Millis testified tRatl. required an
eleveamonth instructional program to catch up to his pe&tsat 596, 604. She further
testified that “R.H] needs far more than” the few hours of transition assistancR #Has IEPs
currently prescribedId. at 595. Ms. Millis opined th&.H. has made no progress at Eastern,
“based on both his report card and the fact that he’s only earned four credits iretrseelg.
at 605. Additionally, Ms. Millis submitted th&astern cannot meRtH.’s particular needs
because the school cannot offer fithe special education services or a vocational progidm.

at 606.
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To address R.H.’s academic and vocational needs, Ms. Millis recommended that he
attend New Beginnings because that school offers an efewath instructional program and
full-time special education services in a sheibks settingld. at 607. Ms. Millis also
calculatedhe amount of specialized instruction that R.H. would need as compensatory
education.Id. at 610. Assuming th&.H. had required fullime specialized instructioior both
the 2012-2013 and 2013-204e¢hool years, Ms. Millis testified that nas depwed of 1,100
hours ofinstructionfor each year, or 2,200 hours totédl. By contrastshe testified that total
of 800 hours of specialized instruction were withheld from R.H. during those schoobgsats
on the prescriptions of the January andéeloer 2013 IERsvhichmandateden hours of
specialized instruction per weekd. at 610-11. She ultimately recommended that R.H. should
receive 200 total hours of compensatory education, in the form of one-on-one tutoringe becaus
of “[t]he lack of specialized instruction that he receiveltl’ at 61022 Ms. Millis further
recommended th&.H. receive 100 hours of counseling under this plan, “based on [Rl&tks
of anything at all.”1d. at 611.

e. Travis Cox’s Testimony

On August 8, 2016, Mr. Cox telephonically appeared as a witness on behalf of DCPS,
testifying in his capacity @.H.’s case manager during the 2012—2013 school year and his
reading teacher during the 2013-2014 school yehmat 655-736. As R.H.'sading teacher
for that year, Mr. Cox submitted that he tauBtil. every other day foeightyminutes in a

smaltclass settingf five students.Id. at 659. When asked about R.H.’s conduct in that class,

22 Ms. Millis did not explain how she arrived at her value of 200 hours opeasatory tutoring, but it appears that
this number represents ofaurth of the total hours of specialized instruction withheld from R.HEP provisions
during the 20122013 and 20122014 school years. Plaintiffs’ counsel explained during the July 22, 2016deari
that “[vlery common formulas wereté-1 or 5to-1 classroom hours to tutog hours. . .. [l]t is very common for
a comp ed [sic] award in tutoring hours to be far less than what vgasdrin classroom hours.” Hrg. Tr. at 65.
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Mr. Cox responded that “[he] never had any behalissaies withR.H.] ... R.H] is quiet

and . . . tries to get the students to focus on what's going onR.H] {s a respectful guy.d.

at 670. Mr. Cox opined th&.H. “was probably one of the top students” in that class, and “[t]he
only reason that he maybe didn’t get a higher grade is because he was missing so malich clas
Id. at 671. Mr. Cox also submitted that, during the 2013—-2014 schooRyehryas enrolled in

a developmental or “resourcgéometryclass but he did not know “theecifics of that class” or
whether it was taught out of the general education settthgt 661-62.

Mr. Coxalsotestified with respect t®.H.’s January 2013 IEP, which Mr. Cox wrote and
developed during the 2012-2013 school yddrat 667—68. To develop this IEP, Mr. Cox
explained that he interviewd®lH. about his career interests and ghwa a W3lll ACH and a
BRIGANCE E-2 assessmernt]. at 668, all of which are assessments that Mr. Cox normally
administers to nintigradersid. at 667. Mr. Cox agreed, however, ttted BRIGANCE E-2
assessment was considered a vocational level | assesdchexit700. After obtaining the
results from those assessments, Mr. Cox met with other members of the lBRoT@aate
R.H.’sJanuary P13 IEP. Id. Themembers decided to prescribe ten hours of specialized
instruction per weekor R.H. outside the general education setting becausé&tegood fluency
in reading but . . . [needed] special help with decoding and reading text abdng grade
level.” Id. at 675.

Apart from the IEPMr. Cox testified thaR.H. received onen-one tutoring for reading
during the 2012—-2103 school ydmcause his reading teacher “had a very small class,” but Mr.
Cox knew of no other class in which Ridceivedone-on-oneservice. Id. at 702. When asked
to compareR.H.’s reading skills to those of other students, Mr. Cox opinedRtfipossesses

“much higher basic reading skills” than the students for whom Eastern provideséul
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specialized insuction. 1d. at 676. When asked about assessing Rbdsglines and goals from
the January 2013 IEP, Mr. Cox responded that, for example, the WJ-11l ACH showed “where
[R.H.’s] foundational math skills were.ld. at 718. Mr. Cox added that the WUOACH lacks
“specific information about percentage[s],” so supplying a numeric quantfidar R.H.’s
baseline abilities “would be impossible” using that tédt. Thus, Mr. Cox explained, R.H.’s
progress may not be tracked “just by reading the IEP,” id. at 717, but his progress can be
measured by “howH.H] does in the classroom, exit slips, homework assignments, quizzes,
[and] tests,’id. at 716.

R.H.’s January 2013 IEP also included transportation services and a transition plan,
which Mr. Cox testified were both included to help encouRgt to attend schoolld. at 678—
79, 681-82. Regarding the transportation services, Mr. Cox explained that they were included
becausdlaintiffs had insufficient funds ands. Hill “had significant disabiligs” that prevented
her from bringingR.H. to school.Id. at 678. As for the IEP’s transition plan, Mr. Cox explained
that he intended to puR.H. from class for short intervals to work on R.H.’s transition goals, and
other teachers had agreed to encouRgk’s participation in their sponsored extracurricular
activities. 1d. at 681-822 However, Mr. Cox testified that “[R.H]sttendance prevented [Mr.
Cox] from implementing [the transition] goals . . . because wReH ] did come to school . . .
[Mr. Cox] wanted him to” prioritize his academic worilkl. at 704. Mr. Cox submitted that,
during the 2012-2013 school yeRtH. missed 97.5 days of instructioid. at 665. By contrast,

R.H.’s attendance improved during the 2013-2014 school year, id. at 687, miasitegrdays

23 During crossexamination, Mr. Cox admitted that these activities required a 2.0 GRgh whas fgnificantly
higherthan R.H.’s GPAAR 710, but Mr. Cox later clarified that some club sponsors wélieg to make an
exception if R.H. maintained satisfactory attendaittet 735.
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of instruction, but Mr. Cox explained that missing even six days of school presemgsifiaant
challenge to catch up with” schoolwork, id. at 665.

Mr. Cox testified at length regardifyH.’s attendance record and howetated to
R.H.’s transportation difficulties. Mr. Cox first explained that, during the 2013-2014 school
year, he coordinated with R.H.’s new case manager to prBvidievith free “transit passes”
from Eastern’attendance office and “student Metro cards” from Eastern’s administrafiee. of
Id. at 695-96. Mr. Cox then stated that he “followed up a couple timesRvkh|[ regarding
those passes and Metro cards, but eventually those arrangements “just didn’t wotd. @at.”
696. When astd whyR.H.’s transportation services were removed from his IEP, Mr. Cox
testified that “the requirements had changed[.] [DCPS] had . . . elevated thememis for
receiving transportation.1d. According to Mr. Cox, members of R.H.’s December 2[ER
Team “determined thaR.H.] was no longer eligible for receiving transportatiotd: at 697.

Mr. Cox also responded to questions concerning Rrhktstal state and whLH.’s IEP
Team did “to address his depressed mood or lack of motivation.” Id. at 732. For the 2013-2014
school year, Mr. Cox testified that “[R.H.] was taken to [Mr. Cox’s] classabus points to
meet with the social worker.Id. When asked whether counseling was part of R.H.’s IEP, Mr.
Cox explained that even if the IE&cked that service, H.H] did this meeting with [the social
worker] throughout the year.Id. at 733. Additionally, Mr. Cox asserted that he thinks “it's
possible” forR.H. to graduate from Eastern, id. at 706, and thatH[] wants to get a high
schml degree and . . . some sort of practical training that will help him get a job,” id. at 734.

D. The Hearing Officer’s Decision

On August 12, 2014, following the due process hearing, the hearing officer issued an

HOD that denied all dPlaintiffs’ requested relief.Id. at 3-13. In the decision, the hearing
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officer compressed thtenissuegaised inPlaintiffs’ due processomplaint into three general
categories.Seeid. She ultimately issued an order that denied all of Plaintiffs’ requested relief,
finding that they had failed to meet their burden of proof with respect to each ehtissues.

Id. The Courts assessment of tieadequacy of the HOD was fylset out in its prior Report

and Recommendation and will not be repeated heeeR&R.

E. Plaintiff s’ District Court Complaint

On November 10, 201#Jaintiffs filed the present action, requestthgt this Court
reverse the HOD. Compl. at 4-5. On appeklintiffs reincorporate the issues raisadheir
original due process complaiexcept their allegatiothat DCPS failed to provid&is. Hill with
access t&R.H.’srecords. SeePl. Opp. at 14. Both parties’ motions sammary judgmerdre
fully briefed and ripe for resolutian

F. The Court’s Prior Report and Recommendation

The undersigned issued a Report and Recommendation on March 23h2016,
recommendethat the district judge originally assigntthis mattedeny bothparties’ motions
for summary judgment amgémand the case for a new HOD. R&R atThe undersigned found
that the HOD @l not provide sufficient findings and reasoning so as to permit meaningful
review. Id. at 12. Accordinly, the undersignececommended remanding the matter back to the
hearing officer for further consideratiotd. at 22-23.

Thereatfter, Plaintiff®bjected to the Report and Recommendation becausandwould
“cause further delay irj.H.’s] education.” Pl. Obj. at 2. DCPS joinetintiffs in asking the
Court to forgo remand and instead “decide the merits of this case based upon tite curre
administrative record and the parties’ summary judgment motions.” Def. RdspBath

parties enphasized that remand would Ibefficientbecause the hearing officer who presided
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over the due process hearing no longer works for the Office of the State Sunplemntier
Education ("OSSE”). PIl. Obj. at 3; Def. Resp. at 2. Accordingly, with the consent judrtines,
this case was referred by the district judge to the undersigned for@disesranto issue “a
decision on the merits oP[aintiffs’] claims and grant any appropriate relieReferralOrder
[Dkt. 21] at 2.
LEGAL STANDARD

ThelDEA provides judicial review of “the findings and decision made” by a hearing
officer. 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1415(i)(2)(A). In reviewing these decisions, the district lsasitbroad
remedial authority togrant such relief as the court determines is appropridte 8
1415(i)(2)(C). Motions in IDEA cases, though framed as motions for summary judgment,
generally seek the district court’s review of an administrative deci§dB. v.Dist. of
Columbia, 783 F. Supp. 2d 44, 50 (D.D.C. 2011). The burden of proof is on the party
challenging the administrative decision, who must “at least take on the burdesuzdieg the

court that the hearing officer was wrondReid ex rel. Reid Wist. of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516,

521 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (internal quotation marks omitte@gnerally courts may not substitute

their own views for those of the hearing offic&eeBd. of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 206

(1982). However, a hearing decision “without reasoned and specific findings degteves |

deference.”’Kerkam v. Superintendent of D.C. Pub. Schs., 931 F.2d 84, 87 (D.C. Cir. 1991). In

such a case, the district court may reviewglantiff's IDEA claimsde novo. SeeBlock v.

Dist. of Columbia, 748 F. Supp. 891, 895 (D.D.C. 1990).

Courts apply a twofold inquiry when parents challenge the appropriatenessiadérat’st
program or placement under the IDESeeRowley, 458 U.S. at 206—07. First, the court asks

whether the school district “complie[d] with the procedures set forth in theAI]DEd.
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Second, the court asks whether the developed IEP is “reasonably calculatedadhenalild to
receive educational benefitsld. If the court finds violations of the IDEA’s procedures, a valid
claim additionally requires those violations to affect the student’s substaghi® iLesesne ex

rel. B.F. v.Dist. of Columbia, 447 F.3d 828, 834 (D.C. Cir. 2006).

DISCUSSION

As apreliminary matter, the undersigngadds that the HOD is entitled two deference in
this case. The HOD consisisfour pages of conclusory statements culminating in the hearing
officer’s denial ofPlaintiffs’ requested relief because “[R.H.] had a serious truancy problem.”
SeeAR 10-13. For the reasons stated in its prior Report and Recommendation, the Court finds
noreasorno accordhe hearing officer any deference here. @aeerallyR&R. Accordingly,
the Court will conduct de noweview of the issues raised Rhaintiffs’ Complaint.

A. Failure to Include Ms. Hill in the January and DecembeR013IEP Meetings

Plaintiffs first point of contention alleges that DCRa$ed to includeMs. Hill in the
January 2013 and December 2013 IEP meetings. Pl. Mot. &t1fie hearing on the parties’
motions, Plaintifé withdrewthis allegation with respect tihe January 2013 IEP meetinigrg.
Tr. at 20. As for the Decembe2013IEP meetingDCPS conceded at the hearthgt it denied
R.H. a FAPE by “holding or scheduling [the December 2013] IEP meeting witksutill]
being there.”ld. at 3. This concession is wethken. District regulations require DCRS
“ensure that one or both tife parents . . . are present at each IEP Team meeting or afforded the
opportunity to participate[.]'See34 C.F.R8 300.322(a). DCPS3efusal to reschedule the
December 2013 IEP meetipgohibitedMs. Hill’s participationin the meetingthereby denying
R.H. a FAPE.See20 U.S.C. 8§ 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii)(procedural defect in an IEP results in a denial of

a FAPE it if “significantly impeded the parents’ opportunity to participathe decision making
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process regarding the provision of a free appropriate public education to the’ ghieli)s As
other Judges on this Court have obsertteelIEP is critical to the design and functioning of the

FAPE,” Brown v. Dist. of ColumbialNo. 15-0043 (RCL)2016 WL 1452330, at *9 (D.D.C. Apr.

13, 2016), and the IDEA “requires school districts to involve parents in the creafl&fsf

tailored to address the specific needs of each disabled student.” N.S. ex rel Bislirof.

Columbia, 709 F. Supp. 2d 57, 70 (D.D.C. 2010). Indeed, the Act “emphasizes the participation

of the parents in developing the child’s educational program and assessing titzeeitss.”

Town of Burlington vMass.Dep’t of Educ., 471 U.S. 359, 369 (1983 ccordingly, the Court
finds that DCPS denied R.H. a FAREleast as of thBecembed 9, 2013 IEPmeeting

B. Failure to Authorize Evaluations of R.H.

Plaintiffs asserthatDCPSalso failedto authorize evaluations of R.H. in 2013, including
speecHanguage angocational laguage llassessmen# Specifically, Plaintiffscontendthat
Ms. Hill’'s August 1, 2013, request for DCPS to administer a comprehensive evaldd&ié¢h o
“trigger[ed] a specific statutory obligation to perform” the spdadguage and vocatnal
evaluations.ld. at 18;seePI. Opp. at 10 At thehearing DCPS conceded an IDBAolation
with respecto this issue Hrg. Tr. 3, 40. As DCPS noadmits when a parent requests an
evaluation, DCPS is “supposed to provide the evaluation and it clearly did not do that with
respect to the speech and language evaluation and the vocational evalddtion.”

Again, DCPS’s concession is well taken. The IDEA requires school districtsui@ens

that students are “assessed in all areas of suspected disability” and teelstsdent’s IEP on

24|n passing, Plaintiffs also reference DCPS'’ failure to abide by an eadjeest in 2012 for “triennial

evaluations,” including a comprehensive psychological evaluagaeePl. Mot. at 5. Such a request, dated
December 11, 2012, is indeed reflectethimrecord, AR 24. But in response to this request, DCPS issued a
psychological evaluation on March 4, 2014d. at 58. Thus, it appears that DCPS complied with Plaintiffs’ request,
which was made only a few weeks before the January 2013 IEP megtiogrdingly, the Court finds that

Plaintiffs failed to prove that any harm flowed from the circumsta surrounding the 2012 requeSeeCooper v.

Dist. of Columbia 77 F. Supp. 3d 32, 37 (D.D.C. 2014).
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the most recent evaluation. 20 U.S.C. 88 1414(b)(3)(B), (c)(1); 34 C.F.R. § 300.304(c)(4).
Further, shool districts must conduct an assessment of a student’s educational needs if the
parent requests omwen if the IEP Team finds that “no additional data are needed to determine”
those needs. 20 U.S.C. § 1414(c)(4)(Bjudentsre alscentitled to a reevaluaton of their
disabilityupon a parental request, provided that nevauation occursrore fequently than

once a year,” thouga requested revaluation must occur “at least once every 3 years.” 34

C.F.R. 8 300.303(a)(2¥eeCartwright v. Distof Columbig 267 F. Supp. 2d 83, 87 (D.D.C.

2003) (‘DCPS’failure to comply with [the parent’s] request clearly violates the languaj@d of
C.F.R. 8 300.303].”). According to the recoRIH.’s last speecitanguage evaluation occurred
over twelve yearago, on March 9, 2004. AR 60. Therefore, DCPS had an obligation to
administer a speedanguageaeevaluationat Ms. Hill’s requesin August 2013.See34 C.F.R. 8
300.303(a)(2 Similarly, as it admitted at the hearing, DCPS was obliged to conduct a
vocational level Il assessmearftRH uponMs. Hill’s request because such an assessment was
necessaryto determinghis] educational needs.” Sé&d C.F.R. § 300.305(d).

Unavailing, however, is Plaintiffs’ contentiohatDCPSwas obligatedo evaluate
R.H.’s speech languagwility prior toMs. Hill's August 1, 2013equesbecausé[s]peech
language was an area of suspected disability [for R.H. given] that DCP Selvaxliply
prescribed speedanguage services” to him. PIl. Opp. at 1tlis truethat, even absent a
parentarequesttheschool district must assesslald “in all areas of suspected disability,”
which include “social and emotional status, general intelligence, academioparte, [and]

communicativestatus’ 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1414(b)(3)(Bemphasis added34 C.F.R. 8 300.304(c)(4).

But there isinsufficient evidence in the record to support the conclusiatDCPS should have

suspected th&..H. had a speech language disability priokts Hill’'s August 2013equests
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for an evaluationIndeed, R.H’s only speech languagaluationprior to that timewvas in

March 2004, and the results of the evaluation included no recommendations regarding a
disability. AR 61 (stating the 2004 speech language evaluation indicated that R.H.’s “overall
language abilities were in the average range and speech services were not recorahtbatied
time”); seealsoid. at 124 (during October 10, 2013, MOMIs. Hill's representethat R.H. had
received speeclanguage services for a-{@arold speech impediment but that it “no longer
affed[ed] his communicatidl). While the December 8, 20li8dependent psychological
evaluationindicated that R.H. ay have had apeech language deficiendCPS did not receive
thatevaluation until four monthafterMs. Hill’s August 2013equest Id. at 101, 153 cf.

Razzaghi v. Dist. of Columbi&jo. Civ.A. 03-01619 HHK2005 WL 3276318, at *6 (D.D.C.

Sept. 28, 2005) (finding no violation of the IDEA where the school district did not perform a
speecHanguage evaluation before developing the student’s current IEP becanise it
suspected a speech disability after impletngrthat IEP).

As for the vocational level Il assessmehgre is no recordf R.H. ever receivinguch
anassessmentPrior to the hearingD)CPScontended it was not obligated to provide the
assessment to R.Hecausehelevel Il assessmemtasappropriate foan eleventhor twelfth-
gradernot aninth grader like R.H. Def. Reply at As DCPS conceded at the hearing
however federalregulatiors specifically require the IEP Team to annually update “measurable
postsecondary goals based upge appropriatg not grade appropriatéransition assessments

34 C.F.R. 8 300.320(b)(1) (emphasis addsdgalsoGibson v. Forest Hills Local Sch. Dist.,

No. 14-3575, 2016 WL 3771843, at *11 (6th Cir. July 15, 2Qirerpreting 34 C.F.R. §
300.320 to mandate school districts to provide students withspostidarygoals based on age-

appropriate assessments upon their sixteenth birthtlagyecord is clear tha.H. should have
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received a vocational level Il assessment when he turned sirt@amtober 2012, regardless of
the grade he was.ilAR 574 (Ms. Millis testifying thatR.H. should have receivedvacational
level Il assessment at sixtegaarsold to evaluate his “career management, caredostonl,]
and career training; Id. at 162 (independent psychological evaluation concluthagR.H.
should receive a vocation&wel 1l assessment).

In sum,DCPS committegbrocedural violations of the IDEA both when it failed to
provide R.H. with a vocational level Il assessment upon R.H. tusmieenin October 2012,
and when it failed to provideim both a speech language and vocational level Il assessments
uponMs. Hill’s requesin August 2013.Further, &nying R.H. these evaluatioresulted in the

substantive denial of FAPESeg e.qg.,Harris v . Dist. of Columbia, 561 F. Supp. 2d 63, 69

(D.D.C. 2008)“[F]ailure to act on a request for an independent evaluation is certainly not a
mere procedural inadequacy.’RR.H.’s December 201iddependent psychological evaluation
observed that higral language abilities were “in the Below Average range of functioning,” and
were only better than or equal to “that of 13% of children his age,” and that hiss‘score
cognitive tests suggest difficulties with vocabulary and verbal comprienénaR 153, 162.
For this reason, it concluded that he should receive a speech language evaluatenteio #se
source of these difficulties and whether he “will require speech and languaigesée the
school setting.”ld. at 162. Similarly, it concluded that R.H. would also benefit from vocational
trainingto “assist with his vocational goals, and thensition to independent living,” and
specifically recommended he receive the vocational level Il assessltemtt161—-62.

Because it failed to perform eitheecessargvaluation in time for them to be considered
in developing the December 2013 IEP, DCPS denied RAAPE. As another judge from this

Court has observed, “an evaluation’s primary role is to contribute to the developmeoiuoida
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IEP.” Long v. Dist. of Columbia, 780 F. Supp. 2d 49, 60 (D.D.C. 20A¥)theindependent

psychological evaluation recognized, both speech language and vocationdldga&ladtions
were necessaitin order to fashion an educationally benefi¢kP for R.H. AR 162. Without
the benefit of reviewing theata from these evaluations, DCPS could not — and did not —
properly fashion a legally compliant IEP for him in December 20t8hereby significantly
compromisedis educabnal opportunities and deniédim a FAPE

C. Failure to Perform Adequate Evaluationsof R.H.

Plaintiffs also challenge thealidity of the schooldministered=BA and psychological
evaluationin 2013. PI. Mot. at 18Plaintiffs allege thathe December 1, 201BBA “did not
include observations of R.ldr an ‘ABC’ analysis,” both of which are “necessary parts of that
assessment.” Se& The Districtconcededt the hearing thahe FBA was insufficient. Hrg.
Tr. 38. As it fairly stated DCPS*hals] to do a classroom observation [for a valid FBA] . . ..
That’s the whole point.”ld. Indeed, the primary purpose of an FBA is to address a child’s
behavioral difficulties that impede his or her learning, wiaakidenified by classroom
observations Seesupra n.3; eealsoHarris 561 F. Supp. 2dt67 (“The FBA is essential to
addressing a child’s behavioral difficulties[.]’And, as before, because DCPS did not have the
benefit of a properly conceived FBA prior to developing the December 2013 IERy&SH.
denied a FAPEDCPS failed to consider even the deficient FBA report that it did have at the
December 192013 IEP meeting, despite the fact tihdtad received the report as early as
December 5, 2013. Hrg. Tr. at 49; AR 310.

Plaintiffs alsoallegethatR.H.’s March 4, 2013ysychological evaluation was deficient

because it “assessed offitys] 1Q, not emotional and behavioral issues or even academic skills,
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as necessary.” PIl. Mot. at 18he District does not concede this issue, and the Court finds that
Plaintiffs have not met theburdenwith respect to it.

Plaintiffs offer no legal support for their claithat psychological evaluations must
include social and behavioral issues and academic.skKilldViot. at 18seeDamarcus $.2016
WL 2993158, at *8 (“Plaintiffs have not identified any requirement that the evaluatemaof
particular analysis of the information . . . .”). In fact, IDEA lacks specifigparameters
regarding the content of psychological evaluations, othfmtrmatter, obther evaluationsit
merelyrequiresthatsuch evaluations “use technically sound instruments that may assess the
relative contribution of cognitive and behavioral factors, in addition to palysr developmental
factors.” 20 U.S.C. § 1414(b)(2))Clts implementing regulationzrovide only that students
“assessed in all areas related to the suspected disability” arsithagvaluationase fa]
variety of assessment tools and strategiedo gather relevant functional and developmental
information about the child [. . that may assist in determinirgt]he content of the child’s
IEP” 34 C.F.R. § 300.304(b)(1fc)(4).

DCPS’March 2013psychological evaluatiomeets thighreshold.See34 C.F.R. §
300.304(c)(4).According to the January 2013 IEP — formulated before DCPS’ March 2013
psychological evaluation report — R.H. suffesm a specific learning disabilitieading to
academiareas of concern in mathematics, reading, and written expression. AR 40-45, 58.
Thus,anysubsequent evaluatiavould reasonably be limited the extent of thagpecific

learning disability.SeeD.K. v. Abington Sch. Dist., 696 F.3d 233, 250 (3d Cir. 2012) (finding

that evaluations “should be tailored to the specific problems a potentially disaliedtss
having” but not “designed to identify and diagnose every possible disability”). After

summarizing the information collected from results anernnéws, the evaluation at isstoeind
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R.H.’sacademic, memory, and soe&hotional difficulties to be consistent witis diagnosed
learning disability AR 69-70, compare idat 65-66 (assessinB.H.’s verbal and nonverbal
reasoning and memory abilities), wBd C.F.R. § 300.8(c)(10) (defining “specific learning
disability” to involve the understanding and usage of spoken or written languabe)eport
thenrecommended several teaching strategi@sluding a more interactive, multimodal
learning approach to addres®.H. s difficulties in those areas of concerid. TheCourt finds
nothingmorewas requiredinder the IDEA teevaluate appropriateRr.H.’s specific learning
disability. See34 C.F.R. § 300.304(c)(4)

D. Failure to Timely Authorize R.H.’s IEE

Plaintiffs alsocontendthat DCPS failed to tiely authorizethe IEE including an
independent psychogical evaluatittmatMs. Hill requested on August 1, 2013. PI. Mot. at 19.
Specifically,Plaintiffs claim thaDCPS without explanationfailed to respond to their request
for eighty-onedays. Id. The Court agrees and finds that DCPS’ unexplaieldydenied R.H.
a FAPE becausé preventedR.H.’s IEPTeamfrom consideringhe evaluatiomesults prior to
issuance of his December 2013 IEP.

In general,fia parent disagrees withsahooldistrict’s evaluation, the IDEA
implementing regulations permit tiparent to requesteh independent educational evaluation at
public expense.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.502(b)(1). Upon such a request, the school district “must,

without unnecessargelay,” either provide the independent evaluation or request a hearing to

show why its original evaluation was approprialg. § 300.502(b)(2) (emphasis addedhe
IDEA and its implemeting regulations provide no additional guidance on what constitutes an
“unnecessary delay. Though vaguethis Court has interpret the statute and regulations as

requiring ‘prompt resolution of disputes involvirtige educational placement of learning
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disabled childreri Herbin ex rel. Herbin v. Dist. of Columbia, 362 F. Supp. 2d 254, 259-60

(D.D.C. 2005). But while such an unddelay constitutes arpcedural violation of the IDEA, it

does not “inexorably lead a court to find a child was denied FAPE.” Smith v. Dist. of Calumbi

No. 08-2216, 2010 WL 4861757, at *3 (D.D.C. Nov. 30, 20Rather, he procedural violation
must have affected the child’s substantive righds. “A delay does not affect sgtantive rights
if the student’s education would not have been different had there been no delay.” D.R. ex rel

Robinson v. Gov't of Dist. of Columbia, 637 F. Supp. 2d 11, 18 (D.D.C. 2009). On the other

hand, “[a] delay of more than 2—3 months is likiglial to the [school] district’'s cas@though
the exact length will depend on the circumstances rather than being dibaghst.” Perry A.

Zirkel, Independent Educational Evaluation Reimbursement Under the IDEA: An Update, 306

Educ. L. Rep. 32, 35 (2014).

Herg Plaintiffs submitted theirequesfor an IEEon August 1, 2013, in part because
they were dissatisfied with DCPS’s March 2013 psychological evaluation. AR 110, 276, 303.
Inexplicably, at leaskeighty-onedayselapsed before DCP&uthorized the independent
psychological evaluation on October 21, 20P3. Mot. at 19seeAR 582-83. [TPS offers no
explanation for the delay, nor any authority in suppoitsofontenton that its response was
timely. SeeDef. Mot. at 16 Plaintiffs’ expertMs. Millis, offered uncontroverted testimottyat
delays longer than three weeks are outside the norm. ARE&%use DCPS offers no
explanation for the 8tlaydelay, the Court finds th&twas unreasonable and amounted to a
procedural violation of the IDEASee34 C.F.R. § 300.502(b)(2).

Having founda proceduraliolation, the Court next considevghetherit substantively
harmedR.H.’s right to a FAPE SeeRobinson, 637 F. Supp. 2d at 58ealsoLesesne447 F.3d

at 834. Under the circumstances of this catbe, Court finds that the 81-day delay did so
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because it prevented R.HIEP Teamfrom considering and including the independent
psychological evaluation'esultsin his December 19, 23, IEP. AR 299 cf. A.l. ex rel.

lapalucci v. Dist. of Columbia, 402 F. Supp. 2d 152, 165 (D.D.C. 2005) (finding no harm to a

student’s education because the school district became aware of the IEESsares

incorporated them into the student’s IEP programjleed, the results were not receisgtthe

IEP Teamuntil one day prior to thEEP meeting Id. Forthat reasonthe Teanmelected not to
reviewthem. Had DCPS not delayed authorizitige IEE foreighty-onedays,the independent
psychologicakvaluationcertainlywould have beemompleted andeceivedby the IEP Teann

time for itsconsideration in formulating R.H.’s December 20&B. Moreover, DCPS made no
efforts to curghe negative impact ots delay. Despite promising to do sDCPSnever

reconvened théEP Team taddress thevluatioris assessment &.H.’s educational need#\R

298. Nor did DCPS ever “develop a written document to amend or modify [R.H.’s] currént IEP
in lieu of another IEP meeting, pursuant to the IDE5&e20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(3)(D).

And the results of thendependent psychological evaluatwaresignificant. The
evaluationprovided a thorough assessment of R.Ecademic deficits and many important
recommendations regardingformulating hislEP so that he might achieve the education and
skills he will need to become a productive member of society, including: (1) to contnue hi
enrollment in special education classes; (2) to update his IEP to include tonaidistubance
classification; (3) to provide himmtensive, fulltime specialized education in a small class
settingso that he might catch up with his peé# toenroll himin a full-time vocational school;
(5) to provide him with out-of-school tutoring oretacademic subjects where he has fallen
behind and in-school counseling to address his emotional needs; and to give hi&) aoth (

vocational leel Il and (7)speecHanguage assessmentR 161-62 None of these
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recommendations were considered in foating theR.H.’'s December 2013 IEP because they
werenot furnished to the IEPEBmin time for their considerationid. at 167—81. Accordingly,
the Court finds that DCPS’ 81-day delay in authorizing the independent psychologicatieval
ultimatelycaused a deation of R.H.’s educational benefits.

E. Failure to BaseR.H.’s IEPs on Current Evaluations

Plaintiffs also assert thddCPS failed tdase R.H’s January and December 2[ERs
“on current evaluations” as required by the IDBEA. Mot. at 19. Plaintiffs contend that the
December 2018&EP was developewvithout reviewing hisnuchdelayedndependent
psychological evaluatiowhich wascompleted shortly before the December 2013 IEP meeting.
Id. DCPSconcedes this allegatioseeHrg. Tr. at 3andthe Court findsfor the same reasons
statedpreviously,that it iswell-founded and amounted to a denial of FARHKith respect to the
January 2013 IEP, however, the Court finds that DCPS based the January 2013 IEP on R.H.’s
thencurrent evaluationsAccordingly, Plaintiffs have not met their burden with respect to that
claim.

When developing a child’s IEFhe IEP Teanis obligated toconsider, among other
things, “the results of the initial evaluation or the most reeealuation of the child.” 20 U.S.C.
8 1414(d)(3)(A)(iii). Additionally, the IEP Team mugt]éview existng evaluation data on the
child” as part of any r@valuation, including information and evaluations from the parent,
assessment results, and classn observations. 34 C.F.R. 8 300.305(ga)Here Plaintiffs
have not identified any evaluation of R.H. that was not considered by his January 2013 IEP
Team. That IEP was basadt only on R.H.’s academic performance, but alsthenesults of
WUl ACH and BRIGANCE E2 evaluations administered on December 18, 2@&R 50.

While Plaintiffs asserthese evaluationdid little more than assefsH.’s academic
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performance, in contravention tbfe IDEA, Pl. Opp. at 7-8&hese evaluations factassessed
more than than that. TM#J-IIl ACH evaluatechot only R.H.’sabilities inhisthree academic
areas of conceramathematics, basic reading, and writt&pression — but also supplied
information relating tdis post-secondary transition pland independent livingld. at 42—44,
50. Likewise,the BRIGANCE E-2, and information collected from R.Hraported interests
further informedR.H.’s postsecondary transition goals set out in the January 2013ItERt
50-53. The Court thus findlsat Plaintif have not met their burden to prove that DCPS failed
to consider the results of msost recent evaluatigrwith respect to that IEP.

F. Failure to Develop IEPs Appropriate for R.H.

Plaintiffs alsochallenge the sufficienayf both R.H.’s January and December 2013 IEPs.
PIl. Mot. at 15.The Districtproperlyconcedeshat the December 2013 IEP was invalid because
DCPS excludeds. Hill from the IEPdevelopment process and failed to consider R.H.’s
independent psychological and FBA evaluations when formuld#te¢ERP Hrg. Tr. at3-5, 51.
Therefore, the Court will only addretfgss argument as it relates to R.Hlanuary 2013 IEP.

Plaintiffs contend that the January 20ER was inadequate because it prescritied
few hours of specialized instruction, insufficietrapsitional]services, an inappropriate setting,
and inappropriate goals and baselines.” PIl. Opp. &dintiffs’ challenge to the transitional
services offereth the January 2013 IEP flovilom DCPS’ failure to conduct a vocatiainevel
Il assessment of R.H. prior to developing HBE. PIl. Mot. at 15. As the Court found
previously DCPSimpermissiblywithheldthatassessmeritom R.H. Becausthat failure
impeded the development of appropriate transition services within the Januaf£P0it 8hus

resulted indenyingR.H. a FAPE. SeeG.G. ex rel. Gersten Wist. of Columbia, 924 F. Supp. 2d

273, 280 (D.D.C. 2013) Failure todevelopanIEP is essentially a denial of a FAPE.”).
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Plaintiffs’ other challenges to tlelequacyf R.H.’sJanuary2013 IEPfail, however.In
support of their argumetiat the Januar013 IEPprescribed too few hours of specialized
instruction Plaintiffs invoke the expetestimony of Ms. Millis andherecommendations
proposed in the independent psychological evaluation, both of whsehrtedhatR.H. should
receive fulltime specialized instructiomather then théenhours per week prescribed in the
January 2013 IEPAR 589, 161-62. According to theP, thelEP Team decided to increase
R.H’s specialized instruction from five to ten hours per week in January 2013 based/h his
[l ACH results andbecause th&nclusion support” in the general education classroom
appeared to be insufficient for his neetts. at46—47, 675. The Court cannot say, based on the
record before it, that that judgment wang at the time it was mad#. may be that R.H.’s
January 2013 IEP was insufficient for his needs, but the Plaintiffs have not denecnttaht

based on the record before the CougeBixon v. Dist. of Columbia, 83 F. Supp. 3d 223, 231

(D.D.C. 2015) (denying thplaintiff's request for fulitime specialized instruction bause she
failed to present supportive testimony).
Indeed, groperly developetEP “need not guarantee the best possible education or even

a ‘potentialmaximizing’ one.” Leggett v. Dist. of Columbia, 793 F.3d 59, 70 (D.C. Cir. 2015)

(quotingRowley, 458 U.S. at 207). Rather, an IEP must dr@yreasonably calculated to

enable the child to receive educational benefitd.’ seeM.H. v. Pelham Union Free Sch. Dist.,

No. 15 Civ. 00060 (RMB), 2016 WL 2353949, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 7, 2@¢1B)e IDEAcalls
only for selection of a program that provides a basic floor of opportunity, that istikphpduce
progress, not regression.”) (internal quotation marks omittég)ong as the IEP “enable[s] the

child to achieve passing marks and advance from grade to grade” in the “leadives
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environment,” it is appropriate. K.S. v. Dist. of Columbia, 962 F. Supp. 2d 216, 220 (D.D.C.

2013).

In light of these principles, the Court finds tlddintiffs have not met their burden to
demonstratéhat thenumber of specialized education hours prescribed in the January 2013 IEP
were not reasonabbalculated to confer edational benefits on R.H. given what was known
about R.H. at the time the IEP was developEdeindependent psychological evaluation on
which Plaintiffs rely for their argumenfior instancewas requestesh August 2013 and not
completeduntil December 2013, long after the January 2&BBwas developedAR 147. Ms.

Millis’ assessment alshd not exist in January 2013. This Cowill not hold DCPS ¢ task
based on evaluations and recommendations reached months after the IEP Teanommaest

SeeDiattav. Dist. of Columbia, 319 F. Supp. 2d 57, 64 (D.D.C. 2@(®j]enial of FAPE

[begins] to accrue when the school district knew or should have known . . . [about the]
inappropriate education.”)

Similarly unavailing is Plaintif§’ contentiorthatthe January 2013 IEfiled to prescribe
necessary counselirsgrvices for R.H. PIl. Mot. at 1®laintiffs relyin support of their
argumen{again)onthe December 20liBdependent psychological evaluation, on the March
2013 comprehensive psychological evaluation, ansl®rHill’s request for such services on
October 10, 2013all of which postdatethe January 2013 IEP lanywherdrom threeto eleven
months. AR 70, 162, 518. DCPS could not have reasonably suspected that R.H. required
counseling services befokarch 4, 2013 the dateof its psychological evaluatiomhich first
recommended those servicesR 70. IndeedPlaintiffsthemselvesaised no objections to the
lack of counseling servicger any other alleged omission by the IEP Team) until long after the

January 2013 IEP was develope&tkeeMunir v. PottsvilleArea Sch. Dist.No. 3:10-€v—-0855,
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2012 WL 2194543, at *16 (M.Ra June 14, 2012Qénying the plaintiff's requested relief
while emphasizing the parent’s lack of objection when the IEP did not contain counseling
services). Therefore, the Court finds thBtaintiffs have not met their burden of proof with
regard tathis alleged deficiency in the January 2013 IEP either.

Finally, Plaintiffs allege thathe January 2013 IEP contained “unusably inappropriate”
goals and baselines. PIl. Mot. at ¥&ccording to Plaintiffs’ expert, all th@anuary 2013 IEP
reading baseline gives isfaroad reading score. It doesn’t say whetlieH. is] able to read
independently or whether he’s able to use context clues.” AR 58 Bt83EP baselines need
not be so detailed. Rather, they must onlyudel‘how [R.H.’d disability affects [his]
involvement and progress in the general education curricul@ee20 U.S.C. §
1414(d)(1)(A)()(I)(aa). The IEP must also include*statement of measurable annual goals,
including academic and functional goals designed to (a) meet the child’sthatssult from
the child’s disability to enable the child to be involved in and make progress in thel genera
education curriculum; and (b) meet each of the child’s other educational needsuhdtam
the child’s disability.” 1d. § 1414(d)(1)(A)()(I11).

Plaintiffs point to no evidencdemonstrating thdiaselines and goals in the January 2013
IEP were not reasonably calculated to cord@ereducational benefit on R.H. Indet IEP
includesa sectiorfor eacharea of academic concermathematics, reading, and written
expression -anddescribesow R.H.’sdisability in eacharea affects his progress in the general
education curriculum. AR 42-45 (e.tR.H.’s deficits with multidigit subtraction, adding
fractions, and multdigit multiplication prevent him from accessing and mastering higher level
concepts in algebrg.” Moreover, the IEP includes several annual goals for each subject matter

affected by R.H.’s disabilityFor example, fomathematics, thEEP designates the following
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three annual goals: (1) “R.H. will be able to correctly borrow in dodigg-subtractdn in at
least four out of five trials”; (2) “R.H. will be able to correctly multiply a deuigit number by
a singledigit number in at least four out of five trials”; and (3) “R.H. will be able toestly

add fractions in at least four out of fivéats.” 1d. at 42-43. This Court thereforéinds no

violation of the IDEA in this regardSeeGavrity v. New Lebanon Cent. Sch. Di$ig. 1:05—

CV-1024 (NAM/DRH),2009 WL 3164435, at *25 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 29, 2009) (rejecting the
plaintiff’'s argument that the absence of a specific baseline renders the IEP inadequate).

G. Failure to Implement R.H.’s January and December 2013EPs

Plaintiffs alsoassert that DCPS failed to implemé&H.’s January and December 2013
IEPs “by providing almost nothingsf what was requiretly his IEPsfor the 2012—2013 and
2013-2014chool yearsPl. Mot. at 20.In its defenseDCPSclaims thaimplementation of
R.H.’sIEPswas difficult because dfis “poor attendance.” Def. Mot. at.18lItimately, be
Court finds that, even taking into account R.H.’s attendance rd2GeS failed to implement
significant portions of hi$EPsduring both relevant school years, thus denyingdirAPE.

Once a student’s IEP is developed, the school district “must ensure that . . . special
education and related services are made available to the child in accordance witll’the chil
IEP.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.323(c)(2pince a ieminimis failure to implement all elements of [an]
IEP” does not violate the IDEA, the piéiff must “demonstrate that the [school district] failed to

implement substantial or significant provisions of the IEP.” Wilson v. Dist. air@loia, 770 F.

Supp. 2d 270, 274 (D.D.C. 2011). In other words, the school district must have committed
“[material] deviations from the IEP’s stated requirements” for the plaitdgifecover under the

IDEA. SeeCatalan ex rel. E.C. v. Dist. of Columbia, 478 F. Supp. 2d 73, 76 (D.D.C. 2007).

While this Circuitrequires thelaintiff to demonstrate more than a mere difference between the
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hours of service provided by the school district and the hours prescribed in the stilfeses |

Savoy v. Dist. of Columbia, 844 F. Supp. 2d 23, 34 (D.D.C. 2012), it does not require proof that

the student suffered “demonstrable educational harnth&plaintiff to prevail seeWilson, 770
F. Supp. 2d at 275The Court’sfailure-to-implement inquiry “focuse[s] on (1) the proportion of
services mandated tbose actually provided, and (@) goaland import (as articulated in the

IEP) of the specific service that was withheldd: (citing Van Duyn ex rel. Van Duyn v. Baker

Sch. Dist. 5J, 502 F.3d 811, 822 (9th Cir. 200Fnrther, the Court focuses solely whether
the school district provided the student with the opportunity to reteevprescribed educational
services and not whether the student actually took advantatimeé servicesJoaquin v.

Friends Pub. Charter Schg. 1:14-01119 (RC), 2015 WL 5175885, at *8 (D.D.C. Sept. 3,

2015). “To hold otherwise would be to transform the IDEA into a protector of outcomes rather
than opportunities|[.]”Id.

1. 2012—-2013 School Year

Plaintiffs raise three allegations concerningithplementation of RH.’s IEP duringhe
2012-2013 school year. First, they assert that DCPS prowadeducation at all, general or
special, for the firstorty-five daysof theyearbecause R.Hwvas prohibited from attending
Eastern during that time. PIl. Mot. at 20. Secdéhdintiffs submit that DCPS failed to provide
R.H.with any special education classes prescribéds IEP for the remainder of the 2012-2013
school year. Pl. Mot. at 20. ThirdRlaintiffs contend that DCPS failed to provideH. with his
prescribed transportation services. Pl. Mot. at 21. The Court reviews eaeti@ilég turn.

According toPlaintiffs, DCPS did not provide R.H. with any education during the first
forty-five days of the 2012—-2013 school year bec&ust purportedly resided outside of

Eastern’s enrollment boundary. AR 511, 53%he record suggests that R.H. may have been
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homeless during this periodd. at 149 (noting that R.H. and his family were homeless from
2011-2013). Whatever the reason, it is undisputedRthtreceivel nohome instruction

during this periocindwasnot permitted to attend Easteror any other schooluntil Ms. Hill

spoke directly with the District of Columbia School Boald. at 511. However the record does

not include the operative IEP for the first half of the 2012—2013. Thus, the Court has no basis on
whichto assess Plaintiffs’ claim that R.H. was deni¢éARE duringthis 45day period with

respect to R.H.’s specialized educatigtcordingly, the Court will deny Plaintiffs relief with
respecta this period.

Plaintiffs next contend that, during the second half of the 2012—2013 schooDgRS
failed to provide R.H. with the full ten hours of specialized educatiorhthats entitled to
under his January 201BP. PIl. Mot. at 20seealsoAR 47. IndeedR.H. testifiedduring the
administrative hearinthat he was only enrolled in general education classes for the 212
school year, anthatDCPS did not provide him with arspeciaized instruction AR 537. Mr.
Cox, whowasR.H.’scase manager during that school yessentially confirmed that testimany
According to Mr. Cox, RH. only receivedn-classtutoring for his “very small [reding] clas’
and that he knew of nather classes in which R.H. received any assistaltcat 702.

Providing tutoring within a general education class igim@equivalent of the specialized
education outside the general education environmbith R.H.’s IEP required Seeid.
Becausehe proportion of prescribesrvices actuallprovided to R.Hwasat or nearerq the
Court finds that he was denied a FAPE for the second half @bttz-2013 school yeaGee
Joaquin2015 WL 5175885, at *7{granting the parent summary judgment because “[t]he

proportion of services mandated to those actually provided was zero”).
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Finally, Plaintiffs contend that DCPS failed to provideH. with his prescribed
transportation services duritige spring semester of tB812—-2013 school year. PIl. Mot. at 21.
The recordeveals thaR.H.’s January 2013 IEP prescribdétDCPS providédim with Metro
transportatiorto Eastern AR 49. Mr. Cox, who developed tHeP, testifiedthatR.H. received
transportation services due to family’s low incomestatusandMs. Hill’s “significant
disabilities,” which prevented her from bringiRgH. to school.Id. at 678. According to R.H.,
DCPSprovision of transportation services during the 2012—-2@h®o0l yeawas inconsistent,
leavingMs. Hill to fill in the gaps Id. at 536. However, nowhere in the record do Plaintiffs
specify how often DCPS failed to provide him with Metro transportation to school. Further
R.H. admittedhata free bus was also available, but he was “not always up to make the free
bus.” 1d. Thus,while it appeas thatDCPS did not always provide.H. with Metro
transportation to school in the 204@8ring semestethe record is insufficient for the Court to
determine thathatdeficiency resulted in material deviation fronR.H.’s January 2013 IEP,

thereby denying him a FARPESeeCatalan 478 F. Supp. 2d at 76f. Turnerv. Dist. of

Columbia, 952 F. Supp. 2d 31, 40-41 (requiring quantitative evidence tolpyreve
preponderance of the evidertbat the student’s specialized instruction was not implemented)
(citing 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2)(CY».

2. 2013-2014 School Year

Plaintiffs also allege that DCPS provided ondpheé of R.H.’s prescribed special
education for the 2013-2014 school yélans failing to implementhe January and December
2013 IER. Pl. Mot at 20. Thod&Ps prescribed ten hours, or 600 minutes, per week of

specialized instruction. AR 47, 174. According to Mr. 0&*. wasprovided such specialized

25The record is similarly deficiemtoncerningDCPS'’s provision of transportation services during the 22034
school year.
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instruction ina developmental readiragss thatnetevery other day for eighty minutearihg

the 2013-2014 school year. Id. at 661-62, 659; Def.’s M6t. dhere is n@videncean the
recordof the length of any othespecialized instructiothat R.H. was providedHrg. Tr. at 51—

53. ThereforeR.H. received anywhere frot60 minuteto 240minutes of specialized
instruction eachveek,depending on whethéis readinglass met two or three times a week.
This equates to approximately 6 to 7.3 fewer hours than the amount of specialized education
prescribedn eitherhis January or December 20IEPs. Seeid. at47, 174.

The Court finds that DCPS deni€®lH. a FAPE by providindpim far fewer hours of
specialized instruction per wedkring the2013-2014 school ye#nan hislEPs prescribed See
Turner, 952 F. Supp. 2d at 40—4bl{ectingcases in which courts found a material failure to
implement IEPs when the school districts provided five to eleven hours less than thei
prescrptions);seealsoSavoy 844 F. Supp. 2d at 34 (finding no material deviation from a
student’s IEP when the school district provided only one hour less per week of spicialize
instruction than the IEP prescribed). Unlike the studeSavoy who received 27.7 hours of
specialized instruction per week instead of the 28.5 hours which had been prescribed, Savoy, 844
F. Supp. 2d at 33, R.H. received an average of 3.3 hours per wisgldingthe mandated ten
hours prescribed fahe 2013-2014 school year. AR 659. Considering the relatively small
number of hours whictvereinitially prescribed, falling significantlghort of that number
constitutesa ‘completefailure’ to implement a studest|EP][,] [which] is ‘undoubtedly’ a
denial of an appropriate education under the IDEWIson, 770 F. Supp. 2d at 277 n.1

(quoting_Abney ex rel. Kantor Wist. of Columbia, 849 F.2d 1491, 1496 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 1988).
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3. Failure to ImplemenR.H.’s Transition Services During Both School
Years

Additionally, Plaintiffs argue thaDCPS failed to implemen@&hy of the very modest
transitional services prescribed during either school yeaR fidis post-secondary goals. Pl.
Mot. at 20. Specifically, the January 2013 IEP required one hour per year of tdadhesearch
of entrance requirements for technitraining programs, one hour per month of assistance with
job interviews, and one hour per year of assistance with developing a bldlget56-53. The
December 2013 IEP required one hour per year of tedetheesearch of entrance requirements
for community college programs, three hours per year of researchingantesuirements for a
landscaper, and one hour per year of researching the DMV weldkité.178-81. The parties
do not dispute thaR.H. receivednoneof theseprescribed transition sgcesor any vocational
courses or other programs that could supplerioerihelack of transition servicesSeeid. at
50-53, 178-181, 704The Court finds that the school district’s failure to pro\adgtransition
services qualified as a material deviation fiehl’s IEPs. SeeJoaquin2015 WL 5175885, at
*7. R.H.’s IEPs merely required a handful of hours of transition services peapeadCPS did
not provide a single hour. In doing so, it derireH. a FAPE. Seeid.

H. Remedy

In sum, the Court finds that DCPS denied RafFAPEbecause it failed to includeMs.

Hill in the December 2013 IEP meetitfigiled to performa speech language and vocational
level Il assessments; failed to perform an adequate FBA; failed to tautigrizethe
independent psychological evaluation; failed to base R.H.’s 2013 IEP on currentiemajuat
failed to develo@n appropriate IEf December 2013; failed to implemehe January2013

IEP during the second half of the 2012-2013 school year and the first half of the 2013-2014
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school year; and failed to implemeéhe December 2013 IEP during the second half of the 2013-
2014 school year.

Having founda denialof FAPE, the Court could reand this matter to the hearing office
to determine appropriate relief. Seeay, Reid 401 F.3d at 526 (after finding denial of FAPE,
district court may remand to hearing officer for further proceedingstéordme appropriate
compensatory award where record is undeveloped). The Court opts not to do so in this case
because it has little confidence based on the record that any such award woutdhadynsate
R.H. for the educational deprivations he has suffered. Moreover, remanding thrswoatte
further expend the one thing R.H. may have the least of concerning his secondary school
education: time. As a I@earold high school student, the opportunity to correct for past
deficiencies in his educational program is rapidly coming to a close. Indeeds Rligible to
receive a FAPE foonly two-anda-half more school years.e&5—-E DCMR § 3002.1(b) &
child with a disability. . . shall remain eligibl¢for special education and related services]

through the end of the semester he or she tureisty-two.”); Branham v. Gov't of Dist. of

Columbia, 427 F.3d 7, 13 (D.C. Cir. 20@Bncouraging district court to award equitable relief
itself rather than remand to the hearing officer where “in light of the aduneaharms [the
student] has alreadyuffered” and “to minimize the potential for further delayFinally, there is
no need to remand this case. Both parties had a full and fair opportunity during the
administrative proceeding to develop the record as to any compensatory educatibduawa
R.H. Accordingly, the Court wikkxercise its discretion tgrant such relief agt] determines is
appropriate’based on the record before it which it deems adequate to the2takkS.C. §

1415(i)(2)(C)(iii).
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The IDEA prescribes “broad discretion” to the Court in fashioning the reitefwhich it

provides._Town of Burlington, 471 U.S. at 36@QJ]Just aslEPs focus on disabled students’

individual needs, so must awards compensating past violations rely on individualized
assessments.Reid 401 F.3d at 524. The Courtsmedialinquiry is therefore facspecific and
equitable, “produc[ingtlifferent resultsn different cases depending on the child’s needs.”

Relief in the form otompensatory education must be “an informed and reasonable exercise of
discretion regarding what services [the student] needs to elevate him to tlenpgusivould

have occupied absent the school district’s failuréd.”at 527;seealsoBrown, 2016 WL

1452330, at *11 (defining compensatory education to “put [the student] in a situation that he
would have otherwise been in had [DCPS] originally carried out its obligatiohk& Court

may also order the school district to pay for educational evahsaéiod vocational assessments

to assist the parties in crafting an appropriate compensatory §gakrriendship Edison Pub.

Charter Sch. Collegiate Campus v. Nesbitt, 583 F. Supp. 2d 169, 172 (D.D.¢. P0OG&e

school placemerftimed at ensuring that the child receivesiorrow the education required by
IDEA” is also permissibleelief, providedsuch an award “tailored to meet the child’specific
needs.”_Branham27 F.3d at 11-1@&mphasis omitted

For their partPlaintiffs requested severedmediesat the outset of this action, includiag
declaration that DCPS deni&dH. a FAPE, an order th&CPS provide R.H. witl private
placement alNew Beginnings/ocational School, an order tmnduct additional IEEs and
discuss their resul@during a subsequent IEP meeting, an@ppropriatedetermination of
compensatory educatiorAR 202—03. In light of the Court’s findingswitill order DCPS (1)o
conduct(a) a speechanguage evaluation, (b) a vocatiofelel 1l assessmenand (c)to fund an

independenEBA for R.H.;(2) to develop a new IEfr him based on the findings of these
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evaluations; (3) to fund R.H.’s placement into New Beginnings for the 2016—2017 school year
(4) to fund transportation services to get him to and fikaw Beginnings (5) to fund or provide
him with 178.1 hours of compensatory education; and (6) to fund or provide him with 50 hours
of counseling. The Court’s reasonifog this remedy isletailed below.

1. New Evaluations and IEP

BecausdPlaintiffs estdlishedthatDCPS failed to provide R.Hvith speech language and
vocational level Il evaluationgndperformedaninadequate FBA, the Court will ordBXCPS to
perform the first two evaluations and fund an independent FB2e34 C.F.R. § 300.502(b)
(requiring DCPS to fund an independeducational evaluationf‘the parent disagrees with an
evaluation obtained by the public agehicyFurther, counsel for DCPS Hrg. Tr.The Court
will alsoorder thaiR.H.’s IEP Teammeetto review and incorporate the results of the
evaluations into a new IERithin twentydays ofDCPS’sreceipt of the last evaluatich

2. Placement allew Beginnings Vocational School

This Court will not restrict R.H.’s relief to new evaluations and an IEP, however
Plaintiffs have demonstrated both that DCPS denied R.H. a FAPE for much of the 2012-2013
and 2013-2014 school years, and that his present academic program is failing tec meed$i
given his disability. Accordingly, the Court will also award him prospectivef ialierms of a
new placement and compensatory education to remediate for DCPS’ past |D&fon®ISee

Boose v. Dist. of Columbia, 786 F.3d 1054, 1056 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (“[A]n IEP carries no

26 At the hearing, both sides agreed that it is time to perform another comgir&hpsychological evaluation for

R.H. since the last was performed in March 2848 reevaludion is required every three yearSeeHrg. Tr. at

8 (Plaintiffs’ counsel indicating that another comprehensive psychalbgi@luation is due)d. at32-33

(Defendant’s counsel agreeing that “it would be time” for another corapsére psychologicavaluatior); 20

U.S.C. § 1414(a)(2)(B)(ii) (mandating thateealuations occur at least once every three years unless the parents and
school district agree otherwiseplaintiffs do not ask the Court to order such an evaluation in their Corpdai

the Court will not do so here. However, the Court expects that a comprehesigchological evaluation will occur
alongside the other evaluations it has ordered bet¢hegtame for reevaluation is rip@and Plaintiffs have requested

that another comprehensive psychological evaluation be performed.
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guarantee of undoing damage done by prior violations, and that plan alone cannot take the place
of adequate compensatory educatiorRgid 401 F.3d at 522—23 (holding that courts may

award compensatory education when an IEP is found to be deficient); Branham, 427 F.3d at 11—
12 (distinguishing between prospective and retrospective relrefleed, once it is established

that a compensatory education award is appropriate, “[c]hoosing instead to aawaitt pl

nothing does not represent the ‘qualitative focus’ on [the student’s] ‘individual nbatReid

requires.” Stanton ex rel. K.T. v. Dist. of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 2d 201, 207 (D.D.C. 2010)

(emphasis in original) (quotin@eid 401 F.3d at 524).

In arriving at its emedy, the Court has given careful consideration of Rdpesific
learning disability and hiacademic progressor lack thereof during the 2012—-2013 and
2013-2014 school year§Vhatis clear from the record is that R.Bicurrent educational
programis failing him miserably As of the filing of the due process complaRiH. had
repeatedhe ninth grade three times. The results of hisaifmost recenacademic evaluations
availablein the recorcexplainwhy. AR 42-45, 153-55, 169-71. According to Biecember
18, 2012WJ-IIl ACH, R.H. possessed “low” mathematics and reading capabilities, cangelat
to a GE of 4.7 and 5.2, respectiveld. at 42-43. He also possessed a “very low” written
expression ability, which amounted to a GE of 3dt.at 45. Comparing these results to those
of hismore recent WAl ACH, it appears that R.H.’s abilities havemained stagnant despite
his education program outlined in the January 2013 IEP. Compatedia-43 (WJIHI ACH
from Decenber 18, 2012, showing a mathematics GE of 4.7 and a reading GE @fith2gl. at
169-70 (WJ-IIl ACH from December 18, 2013, showing a mathematics GE of 4.7 and a reading
GE of 5.2). Even more troubling, a comparison between the earlier evaluation and his Novembe

2013WIAT Il indicates that R.H.’s reading and written expression abilities dgtegjressed
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between December 2012 and November 2013. Compae4d-45 (WJHI ACH from
December 18, 2012, showing a reading GE of 5.Z2aandttenexpression GE of 3.4yith id. at
154 (WIATHII from November 6, 2013, showing an average reading GE of 2.6 and an average
written expression average GE of 2.8). Based on these GEs, it is evident tiatrRuiy
academic years behind his grade levadeed, acording to Plaintiffsexpert, R.H. issix to nine
yearsbehind his peersld. at 605.

At this late point in his secondary educatibms evidentthatonly a significanthange in
R.H.s educational program wiitand a chance @hablinghim to ovecome his specific
learning disabilityachieve passing markand advance from grade to grad&hatis shockingis
that, despite his poor performance duting prior school yeathe only change that hiEP
Team madéo his December 2013 IBkasto cut off his access ttransportation servicebat
werepreviouslydetermined necessary foim toget toschool. The undersigned considirat
decision,as well as théeficienciedeading up to it detailed above, to be serious violatidrise
IDEA, made all the mor&goublingbecausét wasreachedn the absence d®.H.’s mother.
Thus, theCourt’'sremedyfor R.H. is guided both by the seriongture of thdDEA violations at
issueand R.H.’s dire situation as a high school#h less tharthreeyears of FAPE remaininig
correct the educational deficiencies that have causédfal six to nineyears behind higrade
level. Sedrown, 2016 WL 1452330, at *10 (“[T]he [relatively serious] violation calls for a
more robust remedy in order to place the plaintiff in a similar position he would havenlies
the violation not occurred in the first place.”).

Consideringall of these factorsthe Court finds that R.Hequired as of hidDecember

2013 IEP, placement in a school that could provide him fultitime specialized instructioand
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where he could learnteade. For this reasarthe Court will ordeas a remedpCPS to fund
tuition for R.H. to attend New Beginnings for the 2016—2017 school year.

This conclusions amplysupported by the recorcceeQ.C-C. v. Dist. of Columbia, No.

1:15-00400 (RC), 2016 WL 614367, at *13—-14 (D.D.C. Feb. 16, 2016) (supporting the court’s
placement decision with expert testimony and evaluative d@te.results from R.H.’s
evaluations, described above, demonsttaé because of his specific learning disability and
deficiencies in his educational program, he requiegdnore specialized education than his
December 2013 IEP providedR 42-45, 153-55, 169-71. Furthdreindependent
comprehensive psychological evaluation from December 18, @ditly recommended that
R.H.receivefull-time specialized instruction in a trade schddl at 161-62. Plaintiffs’ expert
Ms. Millis, alsocorroboratedhatfinding with her own assessment that R.H. should be placed in
an elevermonth instructional programvith full-time special education services in a sroldks
setting 1d. at607. Finally, R.Hstated a strong preference tteatl New Beginnings because,
in his wordsjt would teach him therocational skills he “need[s] to surviveld. at 544;seealso
Brown, 2016 WL 1452330, at *10 (“[A]s the IDEA envisions a collaborative process, . . . itis
only logical the student’s previously-stated preferences play some rolermdeng the
specifics of a compensatoeglucatiort).

Moreover, the Court finds that New Beginnings is the only educational fadeityified
in the recordhat cammeet R.H.’s demonstrated nese&eeQ.C-C., 2016 WL 614367, at *13
(ordering DCPS to fund the student’s placement at “the only potential placementandic
that could satisfy [her] needs”According to the testimony of Ms. Smith, the Director of New
Beginnings, the school contains a ftithe vocational program with small class sizes and an

elevenmonth instructional curriculupthat primarily serves students with disabilitiesR 641—
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43. New Beginnings also maintains the same academic requirements as DCN®reover, it
offers speecland counseling services. Id. Thus, as Plaintiffs’ expert fairly conclidiad,
Beginnings ha[s] the small, welstructured environment to hel H] with [his] academics . . .
[and] vocational needs.Id. at 64727

By contrastEastern hasot met R.H.’s academic neeidsdate, nors there any evidence
in the record demonstrating thatould. It plainly wasn not meeting his academic needs as of
December 2013. Furthevir. Cox’stestifiedthat Eastern does not provide vocatigmagrams
during the school dayld. at 710. And thextracurriculavocationalactivitiesit does provide
haveminimum GPA requirements that R.H. has not satisfldd.Further, diring the hearing,
counsel for DCPS was not able to identify a public vocational school in D.C. on par with New
Beginnings.Hrg. Tr. at 31. Thus, the Plaintiffs have meet their burden of prdyirsg
preponderance of the evidertbatNew Beginningss the onlypotential placement identified in
the record that would be appropriate given R.H.’s ne8&ageQ.C-C., 2016 WL 614367, at *13
(placingstudent intespecificprivate placement based on the preponderance of the evidence and
“given that [the private school] is the only potential placement in the record thdtsadisfy
[the student’s] needy”

Accordingly, the Court will order DCPS to fund tuition for R.td.attend New
Beginningsduring the 2016—2017 school ye&urther,givenR.H.'s demonstrated need for
transportation services, if New Beginnings does not provide transportatios studentss part
of its tuition, DCPSshallfund his transportation to and from the scheary day of the week

that school is in session.

27 Counsel for Plaintiffs has also confirmed that New BeginningsBpace available for R.H. for the 262617
school year.PIs’ Notice [Dkt. 25] at 1.
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3. Compensatory Education

In calculating acompensatory awardhe Courtmust conduct a “faespecificinquiry” to
decide what award iseasonably calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would
have accrued from special education services the school district should have supipédotsh t
place.” Reid 401 F.3d at 524Here,Plaintiffs have demonstrated that Ridas denied FAPE
for the second half of the 2012—-2013 school year and the entirety of the 2013-2014 school year.
During each period R.H. received fewer hoofrspecialized education than he was entitéed
under the operative IERSpecifically,DCPS provided R.H. nor@ the tenhoursper weekof
specialized instructiohe wasprescribed under the January 2013 IEP during the second half of
the 2012-2013chool yeari.e., from Friday, January 11, 2013, through June 20, 2GE2
DCPS CalendarSchool Year 2012—-13&t 4-12. Thus, duringhis 22-week period, R.Hvas
denieda total 0of220 hours of specialized instruction.

Similarly, asdiscussegbreviously, DCPS only pragded R.H. an average of 3.3 hours of
the ten hours of specialized instruction per wieekvas prescribeduring the first halof the
2013-2014 school yeadre., from MondayAugust 26, 2013throughthe December 2013 IEP
meeting SeeDCPS Calendar: School Year 2013-4¥®—-6. For this 17-week period, R.H.
was therefore denieaitotal ofapproximatelyl13.9 hours of specializedstruction

Forthe remaimg twenty-threeweeks of the school yemrom Thursday, December 19,
2013, throup Thursday, June 19, 2014, the Court finds thaténédnours per week prescribed in
theDecember 2018P are an inappropriate measure of the number of hafggecialize
educatiorR.H. should have receivednstead the Courtusesasa yardstick27.5 hoursof
specialized instructioper week— an amount thaquates to thiull-time specialized instruction

that the Court has found DCPS should have provided R.H. in his December 2013sIG6 .
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that as a measure, and subtractingatrerage of 3.3. hours per week of specialized instruction
that R.H. was provided, the Court finds that he was denied 556.6 hours of specialized instruction
for the finaltwenty-threeweeksof the2013-2014chool year.Combining the totals for both
school years, the Court fintlsat R.H. was deniedh total of approximatel$90.5 hours of
specialized instruction during the relevant time perased in Plaintiffsfederalcomplaint.
As other judges of this District have doti@s Court will apply a ratio to the total hours
of missed specialized instruction to elehine an award of compensatory tutorii@eeKelsey v.

Dist. of Columbia, 85 F. Supp. 3d 327, 331 (D.D.C. 2015) (1.5 hours of compensatory education

for every 1 hour thahe studenlost); seealsoFriendship Edison Pub. Charter Sch. Collegiate

Campus v. Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 121, 123 (D.D.C. 2008 Court willapply a ondo-five

ratio becauséhe Courtbelieves thaan hour of one-on-ortetoringfairly approximatesive
hours of the type adpecialized educatiaimat R.H. was denied. In his January 2013 and
December 2013 IEPs, R.H’s specialized instruction was to occur “outside thal geheation
setting,” or, in other words, in a smalhlss setting with few other students and a greater
emphasis on individualized attention from the teacher. AR 47, 3@8cifically,Mr. Cox
testified that, as padf R.H.’s specialized instruction, he participated neading class of five
students led by Mr. Coxld. at 659. BecausdR.H. receivedis prescribedpecialized
instruction in a small class of five studeragjardinghim one hour of onen-one tutoring ér
every five hours of the five-studespecialized educatioriasshe was deniedould “elevate
[R.H.] [] to the position he would have occupied absent the school district’s fdillRegd 401

F.3d at 527seealsoGill v. Dist. of Columbia 770 F. Supp. 2d 112, 118 (D.D.C. 2011)

(rejecting expert’slaim that 150 hours of compensatory education was appropriate when there

was no rational reason for that amount as opposed to any other). Applying this rati830.fe
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hours of specialized education that R.H. was denied results in a figure of 1ld& Dbho
compensatory tutoring.

As a point of comparisoRlaintiffs’ expertrecommended a very similar number of hours
of compensatory tutoring based on what R.H. was denied as measured by hi2O&Rsurs.
Id. at 610-11. Acknowledging theaprecisioninherent in endeavimg to calculate the value of
the educatiolR.H. hasbeen deniedhis Court is satisfied that its analysarly approximates
the education he lost amaeets the “faespecific” inquiry required byReidto tailor R.H.’s

award to his specific needSeeReid 401 F.3d at 524eeMary McLeod Bethune Day

Academy Pub. Charter Sch. v. Bland, 555 F. Supp. 2d 130, 133-34 (D.D.C. 2008) (upholding a

compensatory education award when the hearing officer first foundftbeedce between the
student’s prescribed hours of specialized instruction and the hours that he received, then
comparing that total tthe expert’'s recommended award, since the hearing officer “conducted a
factspecific inquiry and tailored the award to [the student’s] individual needs by taitom
account the results of [an evaluation] and the recommendations of [an expert]”).

Finally, the Court izognizantof R.H.'s need for counseling services-need that
existedat least agarly as March 4, 20135eeAR 70, 74 (DCPS psychological evaluation
recommending counseling for R.H. to “address motivation, frustration, and provide coping
strategies for stressful events in his lffeBecause of thidemonstrated need and the already
significant déay in acquiring these services, the Court will grant R.H. 50 hours of counseling

services.SeePetit v. U.S. Dep't of Educ., 675 F.3d 769, 773 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (observing that

the IDEA requires an IEP to provide education and “related services,” inclualingeling, to a
student based on his or her needs) (citing 20 U.S.C. 8 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)8&8aiso20 U.S.C. §

1401(26)(A) (defining “related services” to include, among other things, “congsarvicey).
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Theseb0hours are awarded separately from1f@8.1 hours of tutoringn R.H.’sareas of
academiconcern
CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasorBlaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment [Dkt. 12] will be
GRANTED IN PART and DCPS’ Motion for Summary Judgment [Dkt. 13] willDENIED.

An Order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion will be filed contemporaneouslyitrere

Date: August26, 2016 6/%%%?/

G. MICHAEL HARVEY
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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